

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Strategies to Reduce Absenteeism in the Public Sector Workplace

Dr. John G. Turner Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Business Commons, and the Social and Behavioral Sciences Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

John G. Turner

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Irene Williams, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Jaime Klein, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Cheryl Lentz, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

Abstract

Strategies to Reduce Absenteeism in the Public Sector Workplace

by

John G. Turner

M.Ed, North Central University, 2015 Ed.S, North Central University, 2013 MA, Liberty University, 2009 MS, Indiana Wesleyan University, 2007

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2020

Abstract

When unplanned absences occur, employers incur lost productivity and additional costs. In the United States, missed work because of employee absence costs organizations about \$202 billion dollars annually. Grounded in Burn's transformational leadership theory, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore effective strategies public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. The participants included 9 leaders who worked in a chosen department in the local government who successfully reduced absenteeism in the workplace. The data collection process included conducting semistructured interviews and reviewing organizational documents. The data were analyzed using a thematic analysis process, and three themes emerged to include collaboration and employee engagement, communication, and organizational culture. A key recommendation is to restructure communications about absenteeism policies while engaging employees in essential aspects of the organization. The implication for positive social change includes the potential to decrease the local government's related costs from employee absenteeism, thereby increasing resources for supporting social initiatives, individuals, and communities.

Strategies to Reduce Absenteeism in the Public Sector Workplace

by

John G. Turner

M.Ed, North Central University, 2015 Ed.S, North Central University, 2013 MA, Liberty University, 2009 MS, Indiana Wesleyan University, 2007

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2020

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my late mother and father, Sarah E. Turner and John Turner, for being my parents and bringing me into this world to do great things. I wish the both of you were here to witness this awesome milestone in my life and see me become the first doctor in the family. I would like to also thank my daughter Tina Brooks 'Morris and my entire family and close friends for your loving support.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank God for giving me the strength and guidance to complete this doctoral journey. I would like to give a special acknowledgement to my chair Dr. Irene Williams for your undivided attention, advice, encouragement, expertise, guidance, and overall patience, which were invaluable throughout this doctoral process. I would like also to thank my committee members Dr. Jaime Klein and Dr. Cheryl Lentz for their awesome support and feedback. I was very blessed and lucky to have such a talented and wonderful committee. I would also like to thank Dr. Julia East for helping me through some difficult times during my doctoral journey. I would also like to thank Dr. Freda Turner for believing in me and treating me like an adopted son. Finally, I would like to thank Mr. John Laird and all of the participants for their time and responsiveness during the data collection process and my colleagues and friends for their support.

Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	1
Purpose Statement	2
Nature of the Study	2
Research Question	4
Interview Questions	4
Conceptual Framework	5
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	9
Assumptions	6
Limitations	7
Delimitations	7
Significance of the Study	8
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	9
Absenteeism in the Workplace	
Absenteeism Versus Presenteeism	
Effects of Absenteeism on Productivity and Performance	
Causes of Absenteeism and Contributing Factors	14
Organizational Impacts on Absenteeism	
Strategies to Reduce Absenteeism	

Table of Contents

Transformative Leadership as a Potential Solution to Absenteeism	
Rival Leadership Theory (Transactional) and Absenteeism	
Transition	42
Section 2: The Project	43
Purpose Statement	44
Role of the Researcher	44
Participants	46
Research Method and Design	48
Research Method	
Research Design	50
Population and Sampling	52
Ethical Research	54
Data Collection Instruments	56
Data Collection Technique	
Data Organization Technique	61
Data Analysis	62
Reliability and Validity	65
Reliability	65
Validity	66
Transition and Summary	67
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	68
Introduction	68

Presentation of the Findings	68
Applications to Professional Practice	91
Implications for Social Change	92
Recommendations for Action	94
Recommendations for Further Research	97
Reflections	98
Conclusion	99
References	101
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	151

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics of Public Works Leaders 69
--

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Background of the Problem

Absenteeism in the workplace is when employees decide not to report to work because of personal issues, transportation, weather, or family demands and can result in considerable costs and losses in work productivity for a business (Negrini, Perron, & Corbiere, 2014). Leaders who experience absenteeism in the workplace still must manage the operations of their individual businesses. Nguyen, Groth, and Johnson (2016) asserted that absenteeism is a complex and multifactorial issue including unscheduled call-offs and unforeseen emergencies. The purpose of this study was to research how some business leaders contend with the problematic issue of absenteeism in the workplace. This study was conducted at a public works department in Northeastern Ohio.

Problem Statement

Duncombe (2019) asserted that employee absenteeism involves absences for which an employee has a choice to attend work but chooses to take a personal day off because of lack of motivation or to attend to some other personal nonwork-related interest. According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics (2018), about 4.2 million workers over the previous working year called off from work mainly because of illness, injury, medical problems or other personal reasons. The general business problem is that absent employees can result in loss of productivity and organizational profitability. The specific business problem was that some public works department leaders lack strategies to reduce absenteeism in the workplace.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore effective strategies that public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. The population was nine leaders in a public works department in Northeastern Ohio who have used effective strategies to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. The findings from this study could contribute to social change by potentially helping leaders address and manage absenteeism in the workplace and having more employees readily available to serve and support the local community. A successful public works department can positively affect society by employing people to be available for potential emergencies, such as natural disasters, thus avoiding the interruption of public services.

Nature of the Study

I used qualitative methodology as the form of inquiry for this study. According to Yin (2016), qualitative research is about studying contextual conditions such as cultural, social, institutional, and environmental conditions in people's lives. The justification for using the qualitative approach was to indicate how leaders address the issues dealing with reducing absenteeism in the workplace. Quantitative researchers examine the statistical relationships or differences among variables (Lock & Seele, 2015). The quantitative method was not appropriate for this study primarily because using statistical analysis and hypotheses testing would not address the purpose of this study's specific business problem regarding workplace absenteeism because no prior hypotheses existed. Mixed methods would not have been appropriate for this study because researchers use both qualitative and quantitative methods to collect informational data (see Strudsholm, Meadows, Vollman, Thurston, & Henderson, 2016). Mixed methods were not appropriate for conducting this study primarily because the process includes the concurrently using qualitative and quantitative methodologies.

Anderson, Leahy, DelValle, Sherman, and Tansey (2014) suggested that case studies explore a bounded system through in-depth data collection, involving multiple sources of information and reporting of descriptive themes. The justification for using a single case study in this research was to collect and explore information pertaining to absenteeism in the public sector. Ethnographic researchers focus on a lived culture of individual people (Ingham-Broomfield, 2015). The ethnography design would not have been appropriate because ethnographic researchers study how people live or work in a specific culture, which was not my primary focus.

Vagle (2018) posited that the purpose of phenomenological research is to gain a deeper understanding of everyday phenomena. Vagle also stated that phenomenological research is not concerned with generalizing, quantifying, and finding. Therefore, phenomenological research was not appropriate for this study. Khattak, Batool, and Haider (2017) argued that phenomenology research design helps the researcher to gain in-depth understanding of the phenomena when participants share their experiences. Narrative researchers inquire and analyze documented experiences indicated in the lived and told stories of actual individual people (Anderson et al., 2014). The narrative design was not suitable for this study because this study was not conducted on told stories of individuals. The case study was more appropriate for studying absenteeism in the workplace because a case study, according to Yin (2017), allows the researcher to

increase their knowledge on individual, organizational, social, and political phenomena. The case study was the most appropriate research design to explore strategies that supervisors of a public works department use to reduce absenteeism.

Research Question

What effective strategies do public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace?

Interview Questions

- 1. What effective strategies do you use for reducing absenteeism in the workplace?
- 2. What processes did you use to create the strategies for reducing absenteeism in the workplace?
- 3. How did you communicate these strategies throughout the public work department?
- 4. What were the principal barriers you faced in implementing the successful strategies for dealing with absenteeism in the workplace?
- 5. How did you overcome these barriers?
- 6. How do you assess the success of your strategies for reducing absenteeism in the workplace?
- 7. What strategies were effective in reducing absenteeism?
- 8. What strategies were not effective in reducing absenteeism?
- 9. What other additional information on strategies or best practices would you like to add to this interview?

Conceptual Framework

The transformational leadership theory served as the conceptual framework for this study. Burns (1978) designed the transforming leadership theory and asserted the need for leaders to consider their followers' values and needs. According to Burns (1978), transforming leaders possess qualities or traits that enable them to not only cope with dire circumstance or situations but also transcend or transform them. Bass (1985) identified four elements of transformational leadership: individualized consideration, intellectual stimulation, inspirational motivation, and idealized influence. Burns (1978) stated that pursuing transformational change can help others to transform themselves, and this leadership style could be beneficial to the leaders in the public works department's strategies to reduce absenteeism.

Employee engagement is an important factor when considering the effect of transformational leadership on absenteeism. Besieux et al. (2015) concluded that transformational leaders play a vital role in molding corporate social responsibility as perceived by employees, consequently being related to their engagement. According to Yukl (2012), leaders use change-oriented behaviors to increase innovation and collective learning. Moreover, Hassan, Wright, and Yukl (2014) concluded that ethical behavior could increase organizational commitment and as a result help reduce turnover, improve job performance, and increase citizenship behavior. Transformative leadership's ability to elevate the effectiveness and efficiency in organizations provided the theoretical framework for this study on absenteeism in the public sector workplace. The

transformational leadership theory was appropriate for this study because

transformational leaders consider what is beneficial to their followers and organization.

Operational Definitions

Demands resources model: The demands-resources model is an attempt to understand the antecedents of burnout. This model is used employee for health and wellbeing as a balance between positive (resources) and negative (demands) job characteristics (Schaufeli & Taris, 2014).

Horizontal reciprocity: Horizontal reciprocity refers to ties that exist among individuals or groups of equals or near-equals (supervisors and followers) concerning norms in the workplace that have emotional and instrumental components (De Clercq et al., 2015).

Job demands: Job demands are all physical, psychological, and social organizational aspects of a job that require continuous physical and psychological effort (Schauefeli & Taris, 2014).

Vertical reciprocity: Vertical reciprocity refers to the interactions across explicit, formal institutionalized power or authority gradients such as relationships between employees and their supervisors (De Clercq et al., 2015).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

According Marshall and Rossman (2016), assumptions are things that researchers generally believe but cannot prove in research. There were three assumptions identified for this research project on absenteeism in the public sector workplace. The first assumption was that the supervisors who participated in the study would provide honest answers to the interview questions on how they use strategies for reducing absenteeism. A second assumption was that the interview questions selected for the study would provide answers to the research questions. The third and final assumption was that the participates would fully understand each interview question and could relate to their responses to their personal experiences.

Limitations

According to Mouter, Annema, and Wee (2015), limitations are uncertainties and boundaries beyond the control of the researcher. One limitation in this study was not having unrestricted access to information, such as records, logs, and procedures. Another limitation in the study involved working around the three shift schedules to interview participants in supervisory and management roles. The final limitation in this study was only having access to the leaders in the public works department.

Delimitations

According to Marshall and Rossman (2016), delimitations are boundaries in a study set by the researcher about the contexts and scope of a study. The first delimitation in this study was myself as the only person being able to interview the leaders of the public works department who volunteered to participate in the study. The second delimitation was that the study was limited to doing a single case study in one city. The third delimitation was using open-ended interview questions and public works department records to collect data.

Significance of the Study

By using the findings as the empirical basis for amending policies and programs to address issues of absenteeism, such as employees taking unscheduled leave in the workplace, the study could be beneficial to improving workplace practices in government departments. Moreover, the findings from this study could lead to more effective absenteeism policies and practices in the public sector (e.g., government) through the implementation of strategies that can motivate workers and deter problems related to absenteeism in the workplace. The findings from this study could help leaders in government to become better in understanding the contributing factors for workplace absenteeism and identify other strategies to minimize the effects on organizational outcomes. The results of the study may also contribute to positive social change. The findings may be useful for improving the awareness of members of society about the factors related to absenteeism. The study may provide insight for government employees about how supervisors can address absenteeism. A successful public works department can positively affect society by employing people to be available for potential emergencies, natural disasters, and interruption of public services (Gori, Lattarulo, & Mariani, 2017).

Therefore, the findings of this study could lead to reduced absenteeism once the results are given to the leaders within the public works department. Society may benefit through reduced costs associated with absenteeism. Additionally, reducing absenteeism may improve workers' well-being. Overall, society can benefit from U.S. government

leaders who implement effective strategies to address worker absenteeism, thus improving the overall service performance of these government agencies.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this study was to explore the strategies that contribute to reducing absenteeism in a public works department in Northeastern Ohio. The literature review included a search of the literature, which supports the research questions and identifies gaps in literature and practice. The research question was as follows: What strategies do public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace?

This section includes a review of recent and seminal research and theory on absenteeism in the workplace. The literature strategy for this review included a search of resources in Google Scholar and ERIC databases. Search terms included *absenteeism*, *workplace*, *organizational culture*, *employee engagement*, *transformational leadership*, *transactional leadership*, *absenteeism in the public sector workplace*, *absenteeism and productivity*, and *leadership*. The literature review includes 280 references published between 1985 and 2020. This literature review also includes 250 references published within the past 5 years, and 225 (90%) were peer-reviewed references.

The literature review includes a definition of absenteeism, organizational influences on absenteeism, and a leadership theory as a potential solution and model for improving absenteeism in the workplace. This section concludes with a summary and outline of key points and practice. The purpose and rationale for doing this study are also included in the literature review.

Absenteeism in the Workplace

Absenteeism in the workplace is a problem that adversely affects businesses and governments. Duclay, Hardouin, Sebille, Anthoine, and Moret (2015) defined absenteeism as a failure on the part of the employee to be present under planned work schedules. Baxter et al. (2015) found that absenteeism occurs when an employee uses unplanned leave or unexcused time-off from work. Ticharwa, Cope, and Murray (2019) asserted that absenteeism is the failure to attend work in accordance with established planning and is usually measured by the frequency or duration of working days lost. Cucchiella, Gastaldi, and Ranieri (2014) found that while employers expect workers to miss a certain number of workdays each year, excessive absences can equate to decreased productivity and can have a major effect on company finances, morale, and other factors. These researchers have identified various reasons employees decide not to go to work, which was the main reason for doing this study.

Although absenteeism can adversely affect business outcomes in these ways, presenteeism may also have organizational implications to consider. Jinnelt, Newman, and Schwatka (2017) studied chronic conditions in the workplace and the impact on absenteeism in an organization. Brummelhuis, Johns, Lyons, and Hoeven (2016) found that absenteeism is the employee's failure to report for scheduled work can be viewed as mildly deviant behavior as the employee falls short in his or her contract with the employer, resulting in reduced organizational productivity. In contrast, Boon, Belschak, Hartog, and Pijnenburg (2014) found that employees may miss work for different reasons (i.e., absence), and when at work, employees make choices in how to divide time over different types of activities, which may affect the company. These statements are different variations on why absenteeism occurs in the workplace and could contribute to this study by providing strategies for reducing absenteeism. In addition, further research is needed to extend these findings to offer more insight into the causes of absenteeism, which was one of the reasons for doing this study.

Absenteeism Versus Presenteeism

Employees who decide to come to work while sick can still cause potential issues that are related to absenteeism. Boon et al. (2014) found that presenteeism is a closely related construct that occurs when individuals avoid taking sick leave when they are ill, which may be related an array of factors. Lopes et al. (2018) argued that individuals who engage in presenteeism are workers who know they are sick but decide to go to work anyway, which often creates a risk of spreading their contagious illnesses to other coworkers. Karageorge (2016) asserted that when the financial pressure is strong enough, people are more than likely to still to come to work despite being sick. Karageorge also found that if firms provide sick workers with paid leave, they are more likely to stay home and not risk infecting others. Previous research on absenteeism and presenteeism in the workplace demonstrated that leaders play a significant role in the follower's sickness and absenteeism patterns (Nielsen & Daniels, 2016). As Nielsen and Daniel (2016) suggested, leaders can influence their follower's decisions not to go to work. In addition, workers who are sick but still choose to come to work place their coworkers at risk of becoming infected while at work.

Presenteeism and absenteeism are correlated and can sometimes affect productivity in the workplace. Miraglia and Johns (2016) found that presenteeism can have both negative and positive effects on employee productivity and welfare. Karageorge argued that organizations that have paid leave as an incentive allow employees who are sick the opportunity to remain at home, reducing the risk of infecting others in the workplace. Miraglia and Johns found that working while ill can compound the effects of the initial illness and can also result in negative job attitudes and withdrawal from work. Miraglia and Johns concluded that presenteeism can affect the workplace if workers who are sick still report to work. Workers who have contagious illnesses such as the flu and common cold can possibly put their coworkers at risk by coming to work sick instead of staying at home. In conclusion, more research needs to be conducted to explore how presenteeism affects absenteeism, supporting the need for this study.

Effects of Absenteeism on Productivity and Performance

Additional factors such as productivity and performance may be related to absenteeism. Srour and Lattouf (2017) found that absenteeism, while driven by micro level health or job shirking reasons, has a macro level impact regarding lost productivity in the workplace. McGregor, Sharma, Magee, Caputi, and Iverson (2018) asserted that the loss of productivity in the workplace can result in financial losses and negatively impact customer demand. Harden et al. (2015) argued that identifying the determinants of absenteeism can potentially yield policies that prevent absenteeism driven productivity losses. Duncombe (2019) asserted that voluntary absenteeism involves absences for which an employee has a choice to attend work but chooses to take a personal day off instead due to lack of motivation. These various statements regarding absenteeism, productivity, and performance can apply to all professions and industries and specifically to this study because it can affect profits and customer fulfillment.

Absenteeism caused by illness can negatively influence workplace outcomes. For example, Selekler, Gokmen, Alvur, and Steiner (2015) found that headache disorders can cause substantial productivity losses that are related to absenteeism and impaired effectiveness at work. In addition, Buvik, Moan, and Halkjelsvik (2018) asserted that reduced productivity and reduced output are measurable consequences of organizational performance at a national level, and the financial costs are high, which is related to absenteeism in the workplace. Additionally, while productivity loss can be affected by unscheduled leave, other factors such as expected emergencies involving the car did not start or sudden illness can contribute to these outcomes.

Previous researchers have indicated the financial impacts of absenteeism relative to organizational productivity. Hassan et al. (2014) found that absenteeism is a costly workplace problem for some organizations, and, in addition to its direct financial costs (e.g., sick pay, replacement costs, and overtime costs) can lower individual productivity and overall team performance. Additionally, Losina, Yang, Deshpande, Katz, and Collins (2017) found that absenteeism that is considered a work-related illness is a significant problem, and an estimated \$250 billion dollars is lost annually in the United States from workers not going to work. Therefore, absenteeism can be financially detrimental to organizations when left unaddressed, supporting the need for conducting this study.

However, employees face difficult decisions regarding coming to work when ill if policies on paid sick leave are not clear, and the effects of absenteeism versus presenteeism on workplace productivity are not evident. Stromberg, Aboagye, Hagberg, Bergstrom, and Lohela-Karlsson (2017) found that reduced work performance, which can be a consequence of absenteeism, could contribute substantially to production costs for employers. Tolonen et al. (2017) found that physical inactivity of employees can cause higher medical costs and production loss that are related to sickness absence, presenteeism, and lower on-the-job productivity. Additionally, Halbesleben, Whitman, and Crawford (2014) indicated through a conceptual paper drawing on the dialectical theory that many employees come to work despite medical or mental issues that should prevent them from working when clear policies regarding sick leave do not exist. Halbesleben et al. found that presenteeism is considered to be a contributor to absenteeism within the workplace. While this previous research offered insight into conservations of resources, theory, and other issues related to turnover and absenteeism, these findings must be assessed through focused case studies to determine their validity. Based on an understanding of the relationship between absenteeism and reduced productivity and performance, organizations and leaders require specific strategies for reducing absenteeism. The following section pertains to causes and contributing factors of worker absenteeism.

Causes of Absenteeism and Contributing Factors

Many contributing factors can increase the risk of absenteeism. Leon and Morales (2018) asserted that contributing factors such as sickness and unscheduled call-offs from

work contribute to absenteeism in the workplace. These findings help provide insight into the causes of absenteeism but are correlational and rely on self-report. Mahy, Rycx, and Volral (2016) argued that some of the main reasons for absenteeism are health issues, physical conditions, and work-related stress. Mahy et al. used a correlational design involving secondary data. The results of the study revealed that absenteeism might be a result of deviance, general lack of physical well-being, sedentariness, burnout, and workplace bullying (Mahy et al., 2016). Bouville, Russo, and Truxillo (2018) found that sickness absenteeism is a costly phenomenon for organizations and, when prolonged, is also costly for nations, which often share with employers a portion of an employee salary to be covered during sick leaves. While there are various types absenteeism listed, more research to support this study is needed.

Absenteeism as a Result of Deviance

Employees who constantly call off from work can potentially cause issues in the workplace. Brummelhuis et al. (2016) reported that absenteeism is the employee's failure to report for work and can be viewed as deviant behavior as the employees fail to fulfill their contracts with the employer. Based on their research, Queiroz-Lima and Serranheirab (2016) asserted that absenteeism is employees' professional capacities and their motivations to work, as well as by internal and external factors at work. Employees who lack intrinsic motivation for work or have negative organizational attitudes may be more inclined to engage in deviant behaviors, such as absenteeism (Brummelhuis et al., 2016). Schaumberg and Flynn (2017) found that failing to manage employee attendance effectively can inflict great organizational costs, in terms of lost productivity, poor

performance, and frustrated coworkers. By reducing absenteeism, the leaders in the public sector can focus on maximizing the profitability of the organization.

Absenteeism related to a lack of physical wellness. Grawitch, Waldrop, Erb, Werth, and Guarino (2017) found that a lack of physical wellness may cause absenteeism and increase the risk of illness. Losina et al. (2017) asserted that employees who are less physically active or have chronic medical issues are going to have higher rates of unplanned illness-related absenteeism. Welch, Miller and Engle (2016) argued that considering the reality of common illnesses and the burden of employees taking sick leave or working at lower productivity levels while sick could be problematic in the workplace. Krausert (2017) argued that there are various factors which may lead to employees' absenteeism such as health problems, environmental factors such as distance from workplace, transport problems, relationship with management and other workers. Nguyen, Groth, and Johnson (2016) concluded that individuals who are not in good physical shape or have medical issues may cause them to take unscheduled leave. These various types of absenteeism can impact the productivity of a business confirming the need for this doing this study.

Evidence from some U.S. governmental agencies indicated the impacts of physical well-being and absenteeism. For example, the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS, 2018), which defined absenteeism as instances when persons who usually work 35 or more hours per week use unscheduled leave for illness, injury, medical problems, other family or personal obligations, found that 2.8 million workers used unscheduled leave from work due to illness, medical, or personal/family issues in the previous year. The

same report from the Bureau of Labor Statistics (2018) revealed that 17,978 public sector workers missed work related to absences. According to the BLS (2018), absences is defined as when a person who usually works 35 or more hours per week (full-time) worked less than 35 hours during the reference week. The reasons for absences include temporary illness, chronic illness, family or personal obligations, civic or military duty and maternity or paternity leave.

Some illnesses such as the common cold and seasonal flu are not preventable. For example, Welch et al. (2016) found that infectious diseases occur in society every day. Additionally, these authors did not identify that there is a direct correlation between infectious disease acquisition and absenteeism. Welch et al. also found that annual flu attack rates are 5 to 10 percent in adults each year, and seasonal flu epidemics are estimated to result in about 250,000 to 500,000 deaths worldwide each year. These findings suggest that absenteeism can be caused by chronic illnesses difficult to prevent. However, this evidence is secondary data and must be validated through more qualitative research to determine the applicability to individual organizations in the public sector. Last, because there is more to learn about how chronic illnesses can affect the workplace, which is another reason for doing this study.

Absenteeism caused by lack of physical activity. Nevertheless, research has indicated that preventable factors like physical inactivity also cause absenteeism. For example, Tolonen, Rahkonen, and Lahti (2017) found that physical inactivity is related to numerous chronic diseases, such as type II diabetes, cardiovascular disease, depression, anxiety, stress, and obesity. Each of these diseases can result in absenteeism and reductions in workplace productivity. Additionally, Losina, Yang, Deshpande, Katz, and Collins (2017) found that productivity and increased physical activity can further lead to lower rates of work absenteeism. Employees that are less physically active, as well as persons with any number of chronic medical issues, had higher rates of unplanned illness-related absenteeism Tolonen et al. (2017). Chen, Hannon, and Laing (2015) further concluded a direct correlation exists between physical inactivity, medical issues, and absenteeism that may affect productivity in the workplace. These studies confirmed that a lack of physical activity can be a contributing factor for absenteeism, which supports the need for this study.

Absenteeism because of employee burnout. Absenteeism can also be related to stress and employee burnout. Norlund, Reuterwall, Hoog, Janlert, and Jarvholm (2015) found that employee burnout is described as a phenomenon characterized by emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced personal accomplishment that affected people working in client-related occupations. Schouteten (2017) observed that a relationship may be a result of a lack of organizational commitment to employee wellness. In addition to sickness and infectious diseases, employee burnout may be a contributing factor in absenteeism in the workplace. Drawing on a qualitative study involving semi structured interviews with 55 healthcare employees, Damart and Kletz (2016) found a direct relationship between employee burnout and absenteeism within the workplace. Damart and Kletz also found that increased work demands and diminishing resources could trigger burnout among workers and increase the duration and frequency of employee absence. Furthermore, according to Jourdain and Chenevert (2015), perceived organizational values denoting flexibility, humanity, and innovation can reduce the risk of burnout and may prevent undesirable levels of absenteeism. In general, Yu, Wang, Zhai, Dai, and Yang (2015) asserted that job burnout is an extreme reaction that individuals experience when they cannot successfully cope with work pressure. Therefore, the leaders in the public works department should establish organizational strategies, along with wellness programs, that may help reduce absenteeism and losses in productivity that is related to employee burnout. However, further research to support this study is needed.

Workplace bullying. Work-related bullying may also result in absenteeism, performance, and productivity losses. Magee, Gordon, Robinson, Caputi, and Oades, (2017) asserted that workplace bullying as negative and unreasonable behavior from other employees while at work. Akhter (2015) asserted that workplace bullying is a significant problem that affects the well-being and productivity of employees. Anjum and Muazzam (2018) found that workplace bullying exhibits a wide range of behaviors such as public humiliation and condemnation, social segregation, verbal exploitation, intimidation, inaccurate allegations, ignore people for a long period of time, and repeating reminders of one's errors. Khalique, Arif, Siddiqui, and Kazmi (2018) found that bullying is a phenomenon, which causes destruction and damages to the performance of an organization. Notelaers, Heijden, Hoel, and Einarsen (2019) argued that the phenomenon crystalizes and manifests through negative social behaviours, such as humiliating remarks, gossiping, finger pointing, or excluding employees from the social group activities often resulting in targeted employee absences. Magee et al. concluded that workplace bullying experiences are related to absenteeism via health impairment and lower work engagement. Because of the impacts of workplace bullying in relation to absenteeism, organizational leaders who adopt to more evidence-based practices and strategies may help reduce absenteeism.

Organizational Impacts on Absenteeism

Although absenteeism is a result of individual factors, some organizational strategies exist that can be used to mitigate the risk of its occurrence. Based on the negative impacts of absenteeism on workplace productivity, organizations must consider revising their workplace strategies to facilitate improvements in the overall health of the working population (BLS, 2018). Unfortunately, many organizations lack clear policies or guidance for sick leave or workplace absenteeism. For example, Welch, Miller, and Engle (2016) indicated that a lack of consideration of common illnesses and the burden of employees taking sick leave or working at a lower productivity level while sick could be problematic for the workplace. Employees who are sick, but elect to report to work, are risking transmitting their illnesses to other co-workers in the workplace, which can lead to further reductions in productivity (Welch et al., 2016). Additionally, Welch et al. (2016) concluded that organizational leaders should advise their employees that are sick to exercise better judgment when deciding on if they should come to work or stay at home. Also, because illnesses can be a contributing factor for employees being absent from work, organizational leaders at the public works department may use leadership and organizational theories to create better strategies for reducing absenteeism supporting the need for this study in particular.

Organizations that have a healthy workforce were better equipped to help address absenteeism in the workplace. For example, Kampkotter and Marggraf (2015) found that organizational actions to promote health could prevent unscheduled absences from the workplace. According to the BLS (2018), nearly one-third of workers in the United States have no access to paid sick leave. As a result, employees who do not have paid sick-time to use for unexpected situations, such as illness, are at a disadvantage versus employees at other firms that have paid leave benefits. Jourdain and Chenevert (2015) asserted that employees who choose to attend work when they are ill, can risk exacerbating their illnesses which can lead to infection of other workers and result in significant reductions in productivity.

While individual illness is only a short-term phenomenon in most cases, it can have broader organizational implications. For example, a lack of allowance by organizations for employees to recover can lead to exponentially more significant losses in performance and productivity for the entire workplace (Kampkotter & Marggraf, 2015). Specifically, employees who decide to come to work despite being ill are potentially exposing their co-workers to communicable diseases such as the flu or other common illnesses. Karageorge (2016) defined this phenomenon as *contagious presenteeism*, and this problem may be an even more significant contributor to reductions in productivity than absenteeism. Organizations that value individual employee wellbeing and discourage contagious presenteeism may be better equipped than those who do not assess personal well-being and discourage contagious presenteeism.

The Relationship Between Organizational Values, Burnout, and Absenteeism

There are other issues that occurs in the workplace that contributes to absenteeism. Jourdain and Chenevert (2015) found that an increasing body of research related organizational values are closely related to burnout and absenteeism. According to Jourdain and Chenevert organizational values like pursuing excellence, denoting control (rationalization and quality) and flexibility (humanity and innovation), can reduce burnout and absenteeism. Jourdain and Chenevert suggested that leaders who have positive relationships with their followers are more likely to control or reduce employee burnout in the workplace than those who do not. According to Nelson, Shaw, and Robertson (2016) the decision to be absent from work or attend work while unwell is made up of a combination of individual and organizational factors (physiological, psychological, organizational and social considerations). De Stobbeleir et al. (2018) suggested that absenteeism that results from a personal decision made by the employee, and is used to alleviate feelings of job frustration, can be defined as voluntary absenteeism. However, Lee, Wang, and Weststar (2015) found that organizational values can have substantial impacts on individual actions and decisions made regarding absenteeism versus presenteeism. These organizational values can influence how employees within in an organization work, as well as employee well-being and attentiveness to their workplace needs.

Organizations that do not value the physical well-being of their employees should encourage them to come to work. Halbesleben, Whitman, and Crawford (2014) conducted a conceptual and theoretical analysis to show that presenteeism can negatively affect the work productivity of employees who still try to come to work despite not feeling well. Both absenteeism and presenteeism can affect the workplace regarding costs and lost productivity (Halbesleben et al., 2014). Organizations that encourage presenteeism may cause significant levels of burnout in employees (Nelson et al., 2016). Presenteeism in relation to employee burnout may lead to higher levels of absenteeism and further research is needed with this topic to support the need for this study to locate strategies for reducing absenteeism.

The relationship between absenteeism and presenteeism is complex. Fortunately, Nelson et al. (2016) suggested that accommodation at work can help prevent employee absenteeism and presenteeism. Stromberg, Aboagye, Hagberg, Bergström, and Karlsson (2017) asserted that leaders who incorporate accommodations for their workers can help reduce burnout and absenteeism in the workplace. Ammendolia et. al. (2016) suggested that improving compensation and providing greater autonomy deter employee burnout and can help reduce absenteeism. According to Dhaini et. al. (2016) organizations that make appropriate accommodations for employees when sick or require leave can help prevent functional limitations and encourage the perception of fairness regarding temporary leeway and distribution of work. These studies provided information that would be beneficial for organizations to implement strategies for improving organizational values, deterring employee burnout, and reducing absenteeism.

Strategies to Reduce Absenteeism

Because of the large body of evidence documenting the causes and adverse effects of absenteeism, organizations searched for strategies for reducing its occurrence.

Organizations that have strategies in place to reduce absenteeism in the workplace would improve on their productivity and overall organizational efficiency. For example, Jansen, Otten, and Van Der Zee (2017) showed that gender diversity could improve internal work processes, may enlarge the organization's external network, and can enhance the moral image of the organization. Additionally, Schaumberg and Flynn (2017) found that failing to manage employee attendance effectively could inflict great organizational costs, lost productivity, poor performance, and frustrated co-workers. Jansen et al. (2017) found that an improved mental state might cause employees to be sick less often and reduce absenteeism.

According to Schaumberg and Flynn workplace absence is a behavioral response to an aversive situation, such as low job satisfaction. Wang and Brower (2019) asserted that job satisfaction should be a key driver of reducing workplace absence, and organizational strategies like those listed above may prevent losses in satisfaction that would otherwise contribute to burnout and absenteeism. Oksuz et al. (2019) found that conditions that influence the success, happiness, and productivity of individuals at work, job satisfaction is the personal feeling of satisfaction created by the perceived benefits. Organizations that emphasize job satisfaction are also generally more cohesive and organizationally stable to reduce absenteeism.

In addition, a sense of cohesion at the organizational level may facilitate job satisfaction and prevent absenteeism. Based on survey data involving nearly 400 employees, Jansen et al. (2017) asserted that perceptions of inclusion has been positively associated with a range of individual mood, work satisfaction, and creativity, interpersonal, trust, and group-level outcomes (conflict, performance, and team learning behavior). Based on empirical work testing assumptions of the withdrawal and process models of absenteeism. Schaumberg and Flynn (2017) asserted that people work more when they enjoy being there. The results of these studies conclude that organizations that promote social inclusion and job satisfaction could enhance employee morale and minimize absenteeism.

Organizations that promote strategies for workforce diversity could help with minimizing absenteeism in the workplace. For example, Peretz, Levi, and Fried (2015) defined workforce diversity as the degree to which the organizational workforce consists of people with different background characteristics and refers to the program's organizations use to enhance and maintain job satisfaction in the workplace. In addition, Allisey, Rodwell, and Noblet (2016) suggested that the expanded effort-reward imbalance model (ERI) model could be utilized for promoting workplace diversity and reducing the effects of potentially damaging working environments. This model suggests that an imbalance for a reward received for a given amount of effort can contribute to reduced job satisfaction and performance (Allisey et. al., 2016). The ERI model could be also utilized as a tool to help reduce absenteeism and improve individual behavior in the workplace. Allisey et al. (2016) found that expanding on the notion of job demands and resources, the ERI model considers the role of situational, personal and social factors about workplace strain and employee behavior.

Some organizations have explored alternative strategies for reducing absenteeism, such as modifying work schedules. Deery, Walsh, Zatzick, and Hayes (2017) found that

some organizations use a wide range of flexible work schedules to meet their business requirements. Wadsworth and Facer (2016) asserted that some organizations and businesses are offering compressed work schedules as an incentive to help balance work and family life to assist with reducing absenteeism in the workplace. Hyatt and Coslor (2018) conducted a quantitative study on the benefits of flexible work schedules. Hyatt and Coslor administered a survey to determine employee satisfaction with the modified work schedule.

Hyatt and Coslor also asserted that one common form of flexible scheduling is the compressed workweek (CWW), where a full-time schedule is reduced into fewer working days with longer working hours each day. Hyatt and Coslor found that employees working an alternative schedule were relatively more productive and had higher job satisfaction than when working a regular schedule. Hyatt and Coslor asserted that these productivity gains were sustained, while employers also reaped other savings in regards energy costs and lower call-off rates from work. In addition, Deery et. al. (2017) found that compressed schedules offer employees more control over the timing of non-work demands, as personal appointments and other non-work activities can be scheduled more efficiently within the employee-controlled time off from work.

Additional organizational strategies for reducing absenteeism in the workplace identified in previous research include one-for-one substitution policies and flexible onthe-call workers. Damart and Kletz (2016) found that the flexible on the call and one-forone substitution policies mean those organizations allow flexible schedules in which workers can be called into the workplace at times convenient to them. As a result, these policies may be able to reduce absenteeism. Damart and Kletz also found that under the one-for-one substitution policy, all absences, whether short-term or long-term, for whatever reason (illness, workplace accident, and maternity) can be reduced. Damart and Kletz also suggested that the one-for-one substitution policy allows the employer to fill an immediate need and is an effective strategy for reducing absenteeism. Deery et al. (2017) found that absenteeism is reduced by calling on the flexibility of the full-time personnel (permanent, statutory and non-contractual) to help keep the workplace operational. Preliminary evidence reviewed in this section suggests that many strategies exist to reduce absenteeism, although the precise impacts of each of these strategies within specific workplaces and contexts remain unknown.

Transformative Leadership as a Potential Solution to Absenteeism

An understanding of leadership theories and conceptual frameworks is needed to identify potential ways organizations can reduce absenteeism and its causes. Shapira-Lischchinsky and Raftar-Ozery (2018) found that leaders of organizations can encourage their workers to provide better professional services to their customers if their employees come to work on time and as scheduled. Antonakis and House (2014) found that leadership is essential for motivating followers and mobilizing resources towards the fulfillment of the organization's mission and is necessary for organizational innovation, adaptation, and performance. Specifically, Antonakis and House suggested that if the workers are motivated they will come to work and be productive.

Employee motivation is an important factor in how they will perform in the workplace. Prior research on absenteeism revealed that transformational leadership generally has promising effects on absenteeism, its causes, and related constructs like burnout (Shapria-Lischinsky & Raftar-Ozery, 2018). Pradhan, Jena, and Bhattacharyya (2018) found that transformational leaders motivate their followers to relook their job by elevating the status of the job from being boring, repetitive and menial into something more meaningful and significant. Le et al. (2018) asserted that transformational leadership (TL) is one of the most effective leadership styles for enhancing knowledge capital, human capital. Shapria-Lischinsky and Rafter-Overly (2018) studied workplace absenteeism in educational institutions and the participants in the study were 443 teachers from 21 schools. The purpose of their study was to explore teachers' acceptance of absenteeism. Shapria-Lischinsky and Rafter-Ozery posited that different job attitudes may reflect intrinsic motivation factors more than extrinsic motivation factors. Shapria-Lischinsky and Rafter-Ozery encouraged administrators to use their six-item measure as an indicator of teachers' attitudes toward absenteeism and to predict voluntary absenteeism.

Leadership is an important process in leading others within the workplace. Alatawi (2017) found that transformational leadership is a process whereby a manager serves to change the status quo by identifying problems in the current system and providing a new vision of what the organization could be. Wong and Berntzen (2019) describes transformational leadership as behaviors, including articulating a vision, providing a work model consistent with that vision, fostering the acceptance of goals, and expressing performance expectations. The transformational leadership theory is based on giving followers with more options for succeeding within the workplace. Alatawi (2017) suggested that transformational leadership is four factors, known as the four I's: idealized influence (a) inspirational motivation (b), intellectual stimulation (c), and (d) individualized consideration. These four I's are the foundations for implementing transformational leadership theory in the workplace.

Furthermore, Alatawi (2017) found that transformational leadership is a highly effective style of leadership at all managerial levels and in all kinds of organizations. Alatawi suggested that higher transformational leadership style scores on the GTL scale were connected to lower levels of turnover intention amongst subordinates. The findings of the study were that a negative correlation exists between transformational leadership and turnover intention. Poghosyan and Bernhardt (2018) found that transformational leaders within various organizations can encourage their followers to strive for, and achieve, the common mission. Abdullah, Ling and Peng (2016) encouraged future researchers to study the effect of transformational leadership on welfare at work and affective commitment. Chen, Sharma, Zhan, and Liu (2019) asserted that transformational leaders within various organizations can encourage their followers to strive for strive for, and achieve, the common mission.

In this study the topic be researched are the impacts of transformational leadership on organizational outcomes, including reducing absenteeism. For example, Bin et al. (2016) found that that transformational leadership facilitates voice behavior via enhancing employees' identifications, promotes performance, self-efficacy, and influences creativity through promoting psychological empowerment in the workplace. Nielsen and Daniels (2016) found that leaders who utilize the transformational leadership theory are empowering their followers with options for enhancing individual performance and productivity within the working environment. Hildenbrand, Sacramento, and Binnewies (2018) found that employees benefit from transformational supervision for example, increased employee support and various positive constructs such as happiness and psychological well-being.

Followers who are happy were more inclined to come work because the work environment is employee friendly. Nielsen and Daniels found that transformational leaders that encourage feedback are allowing their followers to vent or express their personal opinions in the workplace. Bin et al. (2016) found that when followers are empowered by their leaders, they perceive this relationship as high quality and are therefore, willing to reciprocate by expending more effort to improve their performance and overall behavior. Therefore, transformational leadership may also be useful in reducing absenteeism and is connected to this study because the leadership theory allows leaders to influence their followers to go above and beyond what is expected of them.

Generally, Saint-Michel (2018) found that transformational leaders who treat their followers well can help build a channel of trust that can help elevate productivity in the workplace. Yang (2019) asserted that followers with a high level of confidence in their leaders may seek more feedback because they perceive this information as more valuable than do followers with a lower level of trust. As a result, Bin et al. (2016) concluded that trust is a critical element of transformational leadership theory because it encourages positive performance and possibly reduces absenteeism. The transformational leadership theory has been used by some leaders to facilitate improvements in performance. For example, Suk, Kihwan, and Seung (2017) found that transformational leadership is a style of leader behavior by which the leader helps followers to exceed their initial performance expectation by promoting changes to their values, norms, and personal. Breevaart and Bakker (2018) asserted that their charisma and attentiveness to subordinates' needs and opportunities for personal development, transformational leaders can have a significant impact on the functioning of their subordinates.

Leaders that use the transformational leadership theory will be better equipped to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. Suk et al. (2017) also found that transformational leaders share personal morality and organizational ethics with their employees and, as a result, the employees' intrinsic motivation becomes stronger and their organizational commitment increases. Ma and Jiang (2018) found that transformational leadership also increases intrinsic motivation, which can result in reductions in absenteeism. Intrinsic motivation is a reliable indicator of how transformational leaders apply the leadership theory in the workplace (Nielsen & Daniels, 2016). Abelha, Carneiro, and Cavazotte (2018) found transformation leadership theory is building a strong relationship with followers that exhibits trust and personal respect. In addition, Suk et al. (2017) asserted that employees who consider their leaders as role models will seek to innovate and be proactive in sharing their ideas with the team, ultimately increasing team effectiveness.

Leadership is needed so followers can be directed on what to do while at work. Ferreras, Sanz, and Alegre (2018) found that transformational leaders encourage experimentation and risk-taking mainly through idealized influence and intellectual stimulation. In addition, Tafvelin, Isaksson, and Westerberg (2018) found that transformational leaders challenge their followers to question long-held assumptions, reframe problems, approach old situations with novel ways of thinking and be innovative in their approach to problem solving. Additionally, Ferreras et al. (2018) argued that leaders with idealized influence are more willing to involve their followers in risk-taking activities that may include the workplace. Giddens (2018) found that transformational leaders focus on building relationships with people and creating change by emphasizing values. Robertson and Jennifer (2018) argued that while influence and risk-taking are part of the norm utilizing the transformational leadership theory, intellectual stimulation is the primary goal along with implementing strategies for reducing absenteeism.

Many of the positive impacts of transformational leadership described in this study may encourage presenteeism, which can eventually reduce workplace productivity. For example, Alvarez, Castillo, Molina, and Balague, (2016) found that transformational leadership theory emphasizes on intrinsic motivation and followers' development, which are topics that occupy a central place in current research. Campbell (2018) asserted that the transformational leadership is a popular theory because leaders can influence their followers to embrace change and staying motivated to enhance productivity in the workplace. Additionally, Alvarez et al. (2016) argued that individual behaviors that are team-based and can lead to higher levels of effort satisfaction with the leadership style and perceived leader effectivity. Avci (2018) found that transformational leaders help followers develop new ways of thinking that leads to superior performance. In assessing the transformational leadership theory employees that are motivated by their leaders would be more inclined to come to work. However, while there is a correlation between individual behavior and motivation this confirms another reason for doing this study.

Transformational leaders may be overly focused on organizational quality and neglect the contingencies needed to motivate performance and attendance at work. For example, Ariyabuddhiphongs and Kahn, (2017) found that transformational leaders primarily consider how to improve and maintain performance quality, leading to the substitution of one goal for another. Kahn concluded that transformational leaders are concerned with fostering a positive relationship with their employees that would inspire motivation and creativity in the workplace. Similarly, Lin, Huang, Chen, and Huang, (2017) found that pseudo-transformational leadership can lead to a violation of the fundamental ethical requirement for transformational leadership and that it must rest on a moral foundation of legitimate values. Kahn and Lin et al. (2017) found that subordinates of pseudo-transformational leaders exhibit negative attitudes and behaviors such as overdependence, unconditional loyalty, and fear of their supervisors. Additionally, Muchiri, McMurray, Nkhoma, and Pham (2019) found that pseudo-transformational leadership may undermine the subordinates' willingness to identify with the organization and could further discourage them from engaging in organizational activities. This behavior is typical of a follower in a traditional utilization of the transformational leadership theory.

Many differences exist between transformational and transactional leadership, and each may differentially influence absenteeism. In contrast, Pradhan, Jena, and Bhattacharyya (2018) found that transactional leaders and transformational leaders look at long-term goals and holistic development of employees. Pradhan et. al. (2018) also found that such leaders motivate employees to focus on more profound concerns associated with organizational growth rather than concentrating on personal gains. Similarly, Suk, Kihwan, and Seung-Wan, (2017) transformational leaders act as a role model among team members by sharing creative ideas and knowledge to facilitate working cooperatively and efficiently. Employees who consider their leaders as their role model engaged in more employee contribution thus deterring from being absence at work.

Effects of Transformative Leadership on Absenteeism

Leaders need to have good communication skills when leading within the workplace. Employees that are Pradhan et al. (2018) reported that transformational leaders compellingly communicate the organizational vision and convince their followers to exert extra effort, thus resulting in followers displaying more of discretionary prosocial behaviors. Lechmann and Schnabel (2014) found that absence from work is a pervasive phenomenon that is costly to organizations and society as it is associated with underutilization of labor and corresponding productivity losses in the workplace. Kuonath, Specht, Kuhnel, Pachler, and Frey (2017) found that transformational leadership is one of the most traditional leadership concepts in research and practice and has been known to predict a wide range of favorable work-related follower outcomes. However, its effects on absenteeism remain primarily unexplored, and this model may encourage presenteeism, which can be equally be detrimental to workplace productivity. While the transformational leadership theory has positive attributes for reducing absenteeism this supports the need for further research and for conducting this study.

Johns and Al Hajj (2016) found that absenteeism may result in increases in total time lost within an organization. Time lost refers to the total number of days an individual is absent from work over some time excluding vacation days, jury duty, and scheduled leave. Johns and Al Hajj asserted that there is a direct correlation that exists between absenteeism and overall business productivity. Fortunately, Kuonath et al. (2017) found that when using the transformational leadership style, supervisors motivate their followers as they are proactive, raise follower awareness for transcendent collective interests to achieve extraordinary goals. Therefore, leaders who incorporate transformational theory in their leadership styles could help address employee absenteeism. However, the advantages of this model over transactional leadership in this regard remain unclear. Overall, results from the literature examining the effects of transformational leadership on absenteeism and has been revealed. While the transformational leadership theory has options for reducing absenteeism further research to confirm this study is needed.

Transformative Leadership and Organizational Culture

Leaders have a part in helping establish organizational culture. Clipa and Greciuc (2018) found that transformative leadership increases employee commitment and job satisfaction, which may contribute to a decrease in absenteeism. Some employees do not come to work because of a toxic work environment. According to Gathunga, Iravo and Namusonge (2015), the most valuable and indispensable resources for any organization

are human resources. Pavritha, Baroni and Lingaraja (2017) examined absenteeism in public sector organizations and the results of the study revealed that employee absenteeism has an impact on productivity, morale, and performance. Dierendonck, Stam, Boersma, Windt, and Alkema (2014) asserted that transformative leadership focuses on organizational effectiveness. Many scholars have studied the impact of transformative leadership on organizational culture. According to Dierendock et al. (2014), transformational leadership has positive effects such as positively influencing work motivation, employee satisfaction, and innovative performance. In addition, White, Pearson, Bledsoe, and Hendricks (2017) suggested that this process ultimately transforms followers as a whole and enables their own leadership capacity. However, because absenteeism is an on-going issue further research was needed to examine the actual relationship between organizational culture and the transformational leadership theory and to support this study.

Rival Leadership Theory (Transactional) and Absenteeism

There are other leadership styles such as the transactional leadership theory that leaders use to lead others. According to Jabeen, Behery, and Abu Elanain (2015) a leadership style that has been utilized to manage absenteeism is the transactional leadership theory. Tyssen, Wald, and Spieth (2014) asserted that transactional leadership focuses on the task-related exchange of actions and rewards between follower and leader. Kark, Van, and Vashdi (2018) found that transactional leadership as a leadership style that makes clear what actions and roles followers must take to achieve goals. In addition, Tyssen et al. (2014) argued that the transactional dimension focuses on tasks with factors that relate to the leader and follower bargains and exchanges that provide the necessary motivational aspirations for the followers to pursue. According to Antonakis and House (2014) such leaders use contingent rewards and sanctions for employees that do or do not achieve organizational set goals. Tyssen et. al. (2014) found the role of a transactional leader is like administrative manager and the impacts of these contingent rewards on employee performance. However, transactional leadership is not the best leadership method for the modern-day worker within the workplace.

Specifically, Antonakis and House (2014) suggested that transactional leaders may be suited to ensure organizational adaptation by encouraging the accomplishment of task objectives within the workplace. Hamstra, Yperen, Wisse, Sassenberg (2014) found that leaders that promote achievement goals in their employees can substantially affect organizational functioning, as these goals shape employees' motivational experiences, behavior, and their performance. Hamstra et al. argued that transactional leaders specify that rewards are contingent on achievements, which may make individual task performance more salient and thereby set followers apart from one another due to their accomplishments. De Oliveira Rodrigues and Ferreira (2015) found that the transactional leader clarifies the goals that are to be achieved and makes it clear that the successful achievement of these targets implied rewards, while non-compliance was implied punishments. Hamstra et al. argued that transactional leaders who emphasize their own output as opposed to collective goals tends to reduce cooperation within teams and could lead to negative interdependence. Transactional leaders that specify to their followers that they must achieve their goals, or be subject to being punished is not good for reducing absenteeism.

Transactional leaders focus more on achieving organizational goals. According to Jabeen et al., (2015) transactional leaders can influence their followers to be more focused on achieving individual goals versus working together to accomplish as one collective unit. Hamstra et al. (2014) found that multilevel study involving 120 organizational leaders revealed that leadership styles, which match subordinate preferences, might facilitate the achievement of goals. Dussault and Frenette (2015) asserted that transactional leadership is composed of two factors, contingent reward and management-by-exception. Contingent rewards are positive reinforcements when subordinates do what is expected and required.

Conversely, positive reinforcements or reward are lacking when subordinates do not do what is needed for their leaders. Dussault and Frenette (2015) found that management-by-exception is the use of negative feedback if subordinates fail to meet expectations. Similarly, Cole (2017) asserted that management-by-exception is more of a negative reinforcement versus positive reinforcement with contingent rewards. According to Dussault and Frenette (2015) if the leader neglects to provide rewards when objectives are met, they allowed their subordinates to continue to do work as usual, if they meet performance goals. The transactional leadership theory consist of the follower achieving goals for rewards or being subject to disciplinary actions for not being in compliance. Because of this conclusion further research was required on the transactional leadership theory. Transactional leadership may also be useful when combined with transformational leadership models. Findings from one study suggested that Bass's (1985) multifactor leadership model, which contains transactional and transformational leadership qualities, is by far the most common leadership theory over the past 30 years, and includes transactional leadership theory (Dussault & Frenette, 2015). According to Martinez-Corcoles and Stephanou (2017) asserted that transactional leadership can influence the relationship between superior and subordinate, and its purpose is to meet the expectations and gratify the interests of each party. Dussault and Frenette (2015) found that both multifactor and transactional theories has been indicated in various fields, such as the military, education, project management, and coaching. The transactional leadership style is indicated in this literature review mainly for comparison and research purposes. However, because the transactional leadership-style consist of achieving goals or risk being subject to punishment further research to support this study was needed.

Transactional leaders encourage their followers to focus more on doing what is needed to accomplish their goals. Asencio and Mujkie (2016) revealed that when leaders engage in transactional leadership behaviors, employees developed trust in them and also had faith in their leaders' intentions and confidence in their actions. Brahim, Ridic, and Jukic, (2015) found that transactional leaders identify the expectations of their followers and respond to them by establishing a close link between effort and reward. Brahim et al. (2015) found that transactional leaders are more in-line with getting their followers to focus on achieving individual goals versus working together to achieve as one collective unit. In a conceptual paper, Kunnanatt (2016) argued that transactional leaders must have the ability to identify, cultivate, and organize the team task capabilities significant for the organization to align with policies and procedures. Therefore, leaders who identify with their employees' abilities may be better equipped to keep them motivated while at work. This justifies the need to for doing this study mainly because motivated employees were more inclined to come to work and this could help with reducing absenteeism.

Transactional leadership may have some positive effects on reducing absenteeism. For example, Peachey, Zhou, Damon, and Burton (2015) found the leader-follower exchange relationship in which the follower receives specific rewards that are predominantly oriented toward lower-order needs, such as security, recognition, and affiliation, in exchange for performing a task. Peachey et al. (2015) also found that leaders who are engaged in more culture-building activities handled change better and had more coordinated teamwork in the workplace. Similarly, Khattak, Batool, and Haider (2017) found that while the transactional leadership style is associated consist of setting goals, providing feedback, and exchanging rewards and recognition for accomplishing specified goals, it emphasizes employee performance. Interestingly, Shapira-Lishchinsky and Raftar-Ozery (2018) found that some transactional leaders' perceptions can lead to attitudes in their followers which did not assist with reducing absenteeism.

According Rodriguez and Brown (2016) transactional leaders that exhibit strict leadership with their followers would not be suitable for keeping a positive workplace environment, although they may be useful in reducing absenteeism. For example, Martin (2016) found that transactional leaders focus on the priorities of the organization and not the personal concerns of its members. In addition, Rodriguez and Brown (2016) asserted that leaders who abuse and manipulate the dimensions of transactional leadership, such as using a perverted version of contingent rewards and engaging in management-by exception-passive, are likely to fail. Martin (2016) asserted that transactional leaders who set performance objectives and clear measures for achieving those objectives, which may help clarify employees' decisions taking unscheduled leave.

Additionally, Buch, Thompson, and Kuvaas (2016) found that transactional leaders enhance followers' ability to understand others at work. Therefore, Buch et. al. transactional leaders that use their knowledge to influence followers to work harder or smarter may represent an effective pathway to reducing absenteeism in the workplace. Transactional leaders may help with clarifying performance standards for employees. For example, Prasad and Junni (2016) found that through being precise, systematic and detail oriented, transactional leaders can detect deviations in behaviors on the part of their followers and correct this through constructive feedback or other corrective actions. Transactional leaders expect their followers to do what is required of them in the workplace by offering goal setting and other incentives to stay motivated and productive, which may reduce absenteeism in the workplace.

Transactional leadership also has negative impacts on worker perceptions, although their effects on absenteeism are not fully understood. Furthermore, Tremblay and Gibson, (2016) found that receiving support in the context of a negative relationship is perceived by the target person as unexpected and conflicting, increasing the likelihood of offensive behavior and its adverse implications. Prasad and Junni (2016) revealed that negativity and conflict are not good precursors for utilizing authentic transactional leadership in the workplace. In addition, Tremblay and Gibson (2016) found that adverse events are considered more heavily in social judgment than positive experience or events. These studies concluded that when instances involve negative experiences it may hinder with the process to reduce absenteeism. The precise effects of transactional leadership on absenteeism remain unclear and warrant further investigation. Some research has shown that transactional leadership can increase the focus of workers through clarifying goals and objectives. For example, De Oliveira, Rodrigues, and Ferreira (2015) argued that transactional leadership could define objectives, offer rewards for good performance, and increase acknowledgment of accomplishments. Stromberg et al. (2017) asserted that these outcomes may lead to increased motivation to come to work give and followers the opportunity for them to get rewards in exchange for good performances.

However, research suggests that transactional leaders are using a more business approach in their encouragement of the leadership theory. De Oliveira et al. (2015) asserted that transactional leaders can sometimes waive their responsibilities and avoid decision making and look for rewards and patterns, adopting corrective attitudes when necessary. Therefore, the overall objective of using the transactional leadership style is to help with deterring employees from calling off from work. Theoretically, if the relationship established with the employee is a positive one, it should be enough to motivate them from calling off from work. Berkovich (2018) found that transactional leadership does not produce long-term commitment to the values and vision being promoted. De Oliveira et al. (2015) found that transactional leaders clarify goals and that the achievement of these targets implied rewards and non-compliance was subject to punishment. The punishment aspect of the transactional leadership theory could be utilized to change follower behavior and reduce absenteeism, but further research is needed for confirmation to support this study.

Transition

In Section 1, I suggested that the transactional leadership theory would be an excellent way to research and understand various strategies organizational leaders use to reduce absenteeism and increase productivity in the workplace. The foundation of the study is information on the background of the absenteeism problem. The location for the study is a U.S. government department in Northeastern Ohio. The problem statement indicated statistical data related to absenteeism and the specific business problem, which is that some public works department leaders lack strategies for reducing absenteeism in the workplace. The qualitative single case study was conducted to explore strategies to reduce absenteeism in the public sector workplace. The research question and interview questions are aligned with the specific problem. The transformative leadership theory was used as the conceptual framework for this study. Section 1 also includes the operation definitions, assumptions, limitations, and delimitations. Section 1 concludes with the significance of the study and a review of the professional and academic literature.

Section 2 includes the following sections: purpose statement, the role of the researcher, participants, research method, design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, data organization technique, data analysis, reliability, and validity.

Section 2: The Project

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore effective strategies that public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. The population was nine leaders in a public works department in Northeastern Ohio who have strategies to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. The findings from this study could contribute to social change by potentially helping leaders address and manage absenteeism in the workplace and having more employees readily available to serve and support the local community. A successful public works department can positively affect society by employing people to be available for potential emergencies such as natural disasters, thus avoiding interruption of public services.

Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher in this study was to do a single case data collection process to collect information and data from in-depth interviews of participants and document analysis. Sanjari, Bahramnezhad, Khoshnava, Shoghi, and Cheraghi (2014) asserted that the researcher is the main instrument for data collection and is involved in all stages of the study from defining a concept to design; conducting interviews; taking part in the data collection process; doing transcription, analysis, verification; and reporting the results and findings. As the only researcher in this study, I was the main instrument for collecting data and information. Korstjens and Moser (2017) found that the role of the researcher is to collect data that are relevant to a research topic or study. My current position of employment is as a supervisory management and program analyst for the U.S. federal government, and I manage a staff of over 50 employees, which includes subordinate supervisors in the Washington, DC metropolitan area.

Tatebe (2015) found that the researcher's role regarding ethics is to avoid potential harm and to safeguard the welfare of all those involved in the research to include the participants of the study and comply with the Belmont Report. The primary strategy was to use the qualitative case study to conduct interviews and interact with the participants within the workplace. Supervisor logs were also collected and analyzed. According to Miracle (2016), the Belmont Report is a critical document for those involved in research and is used primarily to protect the rights of all research subjects or participants and is comprised of three major components: (a) respect for persons, (b) beneficence, and (c) justice. I used the concepts and principles of the Belmont Report to conduct and facilitate my research study. The process was to include an informed consent process wherein all participants received an informed consent form to learn more about the risks involved in the study and the rights of the study participants.

According to Kruth (2015), a researcher's role for qualitative research involves the need to provide an in-depth understanding of the topic or subject. In doing so, Kruth found that a researcher has to minimize personal biases from influencing the findings of the study. To mitigate being biased and viewing data through personal lenses, researchers must report on the methods used to minimize the possible influences of own biases during the interpretation and analysis stages to include their reasoning (Kruth, 2015). In this study, during data collection, I conducted interviews, completed document analysis, and conducted observations. Brinkmann (2016) asserted that qualitative interviews are used as a method of inquiry across the human and social sciences in fields and disciplines, ranging from sociology to anthropology to communication and education. I used the interview protocol as a guide to minimize the influences of personal biases.

The rationale for using the interview protocol is to facilitate the interview process and to ask open ended questions to collect data and information that are specific to the study. According to Turner (2010), open ended questions allow participants to contribute more detailed information and allow the researcher to ask probing questions as a means of follow-up. The interview protocol increases validity and reliability because the researcher has an opportunity to evaluate their biases. According to Castillo-Montoya (2016), the interview protocol can help the researcher to guide participants to tell their stories one layer at a time and stay aligned with the purpose of the study.

Participants

Raeymaeckers (2016) found that researchers could use qualitative research methods to provide specific insights into the perceptions of collaboration in reference to participants. I used qualitative research methodology because the process requires researchers to develop an eligibility criterion for interviews. One of the eligibility criteria is that supervisors and managers from the chosen U.S. government agencies or departments should have effective strategies for reducing absenteeism in the workplace. All of the data were analyzed from reports to determine if there is evidence that the supervisors and those who report to them have patterns of absenteeism. In establishing the eligibility of the participants for the study, the supervisors and managers in the chosen government office had the following experience: They (a) have been in their current position for 12 months, (b) have leadership experience in a public sector workplace setting from an government agency, (c) have a direct supervisory role towards employees, and (d) have strategies for reducing absenteeism in the workplace. These criteria were essential to make sure that the supervisors who participated in the study had seen the midterm and long-term effects of the effective strategies to address absenteeism. Burles (2017) indicated that qualitative studies typically revolve around researchers gaining an in-depth understanding of participants' lived experiences, often through indepth interviews and prolonged engagement. According to Bell (2013), qualitative researchers typically rely on the voluntary participation of people who have previously experienced the central phenomenon of the research study.

Hoyland, Hollund, and Olsen (2015) found that successful planning for gaining access to study participants requires researchers to interact with individuals who have knowledge aligned with the topic of their study. I identified possible participants, made telephone calls, and sent emails to ask for their participation in this research study. In addition, French and Stavropoulou (2016) asserted that conducting recruitment procedures and gaining access to the volunteers gives researchers more time for investigating general perceptions. Furthermore, Reybold, Lammert, and Stribling (2013) found that subjectivity is the qualitative researcher's obligation when planning for obtaining participants to participate and volunteer for a research study without manipulating interpretation and representation of data. A formal request was made to have access to the chosen U.S. government agency or department to ask permission to conduct the study with their managers and supervisors. Through this process, the plan was to establish a working relationship with the participants in the study. Access was necessary primarily for interviewing selected and qualified participants and asking openended interview questions that aligned with the research question: What effective strategies do public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace? In addition, White and Hind (2015) asserted that although the recruitment of participants can be challenging once a working relationship is made, the researcher can benefit from the positive connection. The participants for the research study consisted of 10 supervisors who had strategies for reducing absenteeism in the workplace. In addition, Gustafson and Hertting (2016) found that having access to the grounded knowledge of participants could ensure a better collection of data and increase the understanding of the research problem. The overall objective was to establish and maintain a good relationship with the stakeholders at the chosen government department. Additionally, Dennis (2013) found that qualitative research findings are from interpersonal contact with participants, which allowed for a complete connection with me and was directly reflected in the results.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

Gerring (2017) stated that qualitative researchers usually focus on particular individuals, events, and contexts with an emphasis on the idiographic style of analysis. According to Gerring, the idiographic style of research is on the idea that everyone is unique and should be studied in an individual way. Fachrunnisa et al. (2014) concluded that qualitative methodology is in line with focusing on specific individual behavior within the workplace. For this study, I used the qualitative method to identify what strategies public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. Silverman (2016) found that the qualitative methodology is a broad umbrella term for a collecting data for research purposes because of the multiple approaches to qualitative inquiry.

According to Creswell and Poth (2017), qualitative methodology is appropriate when exploring a phenomenon in-depth using data from experiences, perceptions, and behavior of individuals. Guercini (2014) stated that researchers who use the qualitative method ensure that properly gathered data provide a focus on naturally occurring, ordinary events in natural settings and the option to collect data in closer proximity. Using the qualitative methodology was an efficient way for me to collect data on absenteeism in a natural setting like at the chosen department in government. The justification for using the qualitative research method is that the process is appropriate for a researcher to engage in collecting data. I used some secondary data to determine which leaders had lower absenteeism rates. However, the primary methodology used in this study was the qualitative research.

Other methodologies were inappropriate for this study. Goertzen (2017) found that quantitative research methodology applies to studies concerned with collecting and analyzing data that are numerically represented for statistical purposes to establish relationships between variables. A quantitative methodology was not appropriate for this research study because the focus was on the individuals who work in a government agency and the strategies they used to decrease absenteeism in the workplace. According to Yin (2017), a case study is an empirical inquiry that investigates a contemporary phenomenon within its real-life context. A case study provided a good process for collecting and recording informational data for this research study. According to Paull and Girardi (2017), a mixed methods research is an approach that is primarily concerned with collecting and analyzing qualitative and quantitative data based on selected predetermined research questions. Mixed methods research was not be appropriate for this study primarily because the study did not involve establishing relationships of variables, which is usually done when a study has quantitative components. My intent in this study was to research and document strategies for reducing absenteeism.

Research Design

According to Malagon-Maldonado (2014) the purpose for utilizing qualitative research is to comprehend, describe, and interpret different phenomena as perceived by individuals, groups, and cultures. Based on the purpose of this research, a single case study is an appropriate design. Malagon-Maldonado stated that case studies are a specifically bounded system and can be considered both a process and a product of the inquiry to research a single unit, location, or community. Moreover, Yin (2017) stated that a case study is the appropriate research design for this study, as a case study is useful when exploring a specific phenomenon based on the perceptions of a homogeneous group of individuals. The group of individuals concerned in the study was leaders in a chosen government department who had effective strategies that addressed the issue of worker absenteeism.

Furthermore, Yin (2017) stated that case studies are appropriate when there is a need to collect data from more than one source. For this study, I collected data using one on one interviews and document reviews. The justification for using the case study was to gain insight on how to develop effective strategies for reducing absenteeism in the public sector workplace. The description of a case study corresponds with the purpose of this research, which is to explore how some business leaders are reducing absenteeism in the public sector.

Other research designs were reviewed for this study. However, the researcher found these other designs to be inappropriate for this study. Ethnography research design would not be appropriate for this study because the aim of ethnography is to provide rich, holistic insights into people's views and actions (Ross, Rogers, & Duff, 2016). This study was focused on aspects of organizational culture but not regarding power, resistance, and dominance. Malagon-Maldonado (2014) indicated that phenomenological research design is concerned with the everyday human experience to achieve an understanding of its essential structure and to give deep insight into the lived experience. A phenomenological research design would not be appropriate for this study because the research focus is not on the *lived world*. Furthermore, Farina (2014) asserted that absenteeism is not a phenomenon experienced by everyone in the organization.

The intent was be to interview a variety of participants and collecting substantial amounts of information from the selected interview questions to obtain data saturation. As the primary researcher multiple methods for triangulation was utilized to ensure that data saturation was achieved. I conducted one-on-one interviews, observations, and document analysis of all data that was collected for the study. Tran, Porcher, Falissard, and Ravaud (2016), argued that data saturation can be achieved with data triangulation and that no single method, theory or observation can capture what is relevant or important. According to Fusch and Ness (2015), data saturation occurs when there is enough information to replicate the study, when the ability to add new data and further coding is no longer required.

Population and Sampling

Target Population

The population consisted of leaders that work in a chosen U.S. government department, wherein successful strategies for reducing workplace absenteeism are in place. The researcher chose these leaders as the population for this study because they had experiences of implementing effective strategies that address issues of absenteeism. These experiences are essential to collect relevant information that will directly address the research question of this study. There was a total of nine supervisors who work in the chosen U.S. government department. These supervisors had some strategies for addressing absenteeism in the workplace. According to Palinkas et al. (2015) sampling is the selection of specific data sources from which data are collected to address the research objectives. The plan was to use structured interviews that consisted of asking the interview questions in Section 1 to gather data and information about strategies for reducing absenteeism in the workplace.

Sample Size

The sample size for this study consisted of nine supervisors who work in a chosen department in the local U.S. government who have strategies for reducing absenteeism in the workplace. According to Malterud, Siersma, and Guassora (2016), the sample size for qualitative studies does not have to be large, as in quantitative studies. Instead, the basis for identifying the appropriate sample size may be more or less than the indicated 10 supervisors for achieving data saturation. The participants for this study must satisfy the eligibility criteria described previously to be a relevant supervisor who can provide information that can directly address the research question of this study.

Participant Selection Method

Purposive sampling was used to recruit participants for this study. According to Barratt, Ferris, and Lenton (2015) purposive sampling is recruitment technique for qualitative studies wherein the researcher select participants based on having a specific set of characteristics that are aligned with the requirements of the purpose of the study. The researcher used the eligibility criteria, which was the basis for the selection of participants.

The inclusion criteria include the following: a supervisor in the public works department in Northeastern Ohio. Additionally, the leaders in the chosen local U.S. government office must (a) have been in their current position for 12 months, (b) have leadership experience in a public sector workplace, (c) have a direct supervisory role towards employees, and (d) have successful strategies for reducing absenteeism in the workplace. Etikan (2016) suggested that the primary focus of purposive sampling is on

data saturation and obtaining a comprehensive understanding of the research problem. Purposive sampling is when the researcher is familiar with the population under study and can logically assume that the sample was representative of the population. The sample in this study was inform sample size in future studies on absenteeism in the workplace. Using purposive sampling as the recruitment technique is relevant with the purpose and requirements for accomplishing this study.

Ethical Research

Ethics is an important part of conducting research in a study. According to Miracle (2016) the Belmont Report serves as the guiding ethical document to protect the rights of human subjects and participants involved in research. The principles of the Belmont Report was used as a guide to ensure ethical compliance for all participants who volunteer to take part in the study are properly conducted during the series of interviews. Kumar (2013) asserted that informed consent is one of the critical elements for protecting the welfare of patients or research participants. Dekking, Graaf, and Delden, (2014) found that through informed consent, the researcher can address many ethical guidelines for human subjects. The informed consent process involves asking participants to complete a consent form that contains details about the purpose of the study, the significance of the study, length of participation, possible risks to participants, and confidentiality arrangements. The consent form had an option listed for participants to withdraw at any time from participating in the study.

The participants can send an email to my researcher's Walden University email indicating that they would like to be removed from participation in the study. There were no gifts or monetary compensation given as incentives for participating in the study. The interview guide ensures that all questions are aligned to the research question and business problem. The protocol was reviewed to ensure that the items in the interview guide did not pose any concerns or ethical issues for the participants in the study, such as asking irrelevant and leading questions. The names of the participants were be kept confidential by using special codes such as P1 and P2 in place of the actual names. Agreement documents for this research study are listed in the (a) text of the study, (b) appendices (see Appendix A: Interview Protocol) and (c) table of contents of this doctoral study. The data collected for this study was maintained in a safe and secured database that was password protected with data encryption for 5 years to protect the rights of participants. All data would be destroyed after 5 years. A summary of the findings shall be made available by email to the participants at the conclusion of the study. The final doctoral manuscript included the Walden IRB approval number 12-02-19-0584917 and did not include names or any other identifying information of individuals or organizations that participated in the study.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the primary data collection instrument for this research study and used the interview protocol and research questions are listed in Appendix A. Aside from interviews includes relevant archival documents, records, or logs that pertain to strategies to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. The participants provided the archival documents which provided information on specific employee absenteeism such as scheduled and unscheduled leave. The participants also provided records of attendance

logs that indicated data on employees facing disciplinary actions for leave abuse. The following three data sources were utilized for this study.

Semistructured Interview Guide

Anyan (2013) asserted that the interview is a highly used method of collecting data in qualitative research methods. I conducted semistructured interviews to obtain data and information for this qualitative research study. According to Robinson (2014) interview research that has a specific aim or outcome seeks a sample size that is sufficiently small for individual cases to have a locatable voice within a study. In addition, conducting structured interviews allowed for time to inquire about how the leaders in the public works department work at with reducing absenteeism. In qualitative According to Witty et al. (2014) structured interviews are an ideal tool for exploring human social experiences.

The selected interview protocol was utilized, and all participants were informed that the study was voluntary, and they could drop out at any time. The participants were reminded of the purpose of the research study and interview protocol. The interviews were conducted in a quiet place, which was not associated with the public works department to protect the identities of the participants are not disclosed. Each interview was allowed 60 minutes and included the use of a tape recorder to record interviews to make transcription easier. The structured interviews was one of the primary sources for gathering data to gain a better understanding about the impact of absenteeism in the public sector.

Documents for Review

Aside from the semistructured interviews and as the primary researcher, data was collected from a second source to improve the credibility of the findings. By collecting data from another source, data was collected that pertained to strategies to reduce absenteeism in the public sector. The documents were collected from the U.S. government department where the participants work. I secured permission from the site supervisor to review all documents that were not public records. In addition, a letter of cooperation was submitted with the IRB application. Upon conclusion of each site visit each participant was asked to provide copies of archival documents, records, or logs that relate to absenteeism of employees after the interview sessions. Every document was reviewed during the site visits and detailed notes were recorded to support this study. These documents were the second data source for this study.

Observations

Finally, all observations were be conducted on site. A review was conducted of copies of the archival documents, records or policies related to absenteeism of employees after each onsite interview session. Multiple data collection methods were utilized to ensure that triangulation was achieved. According to Fusch and Ness (2018) triangulation is an important concept regarding data analysis for an empirical study. A reflective journal and field notes was utilized to observe and record employee absence during each site visit. Denzin (2012) asserted that data triangulation is for correlating people, time, and space; investigator triangulation for correlating the findings from multiple researchers in a study; theory triangulation is for correlating multiple theoretical

strategies; and methodological triangulation is for correlating data from multiple data collections. A reflective journal was utilized to record notes and accurately record data from the structured interviews. Bashan and Holsblat (2017) found that data collection is an important means in qualitative research.

Data Collection Technique

The research question for this study is What strategies do public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace? Frels and Onwuegbuzie (2013) asserted that interviews represent one of the most common ways of collecting data in qualitative research because they provide opportunities for the researcher to obtain rich and meaning-making data. I used in-depth semistructured interviews to collect data and relevant documents about attendance and absenteeism of employees from the public works department.

Semistructured Interviews

Bowden and Galindo-Gonzalez (2015) argued that face-to-face interviews are often the preferred method for collecting data and have been the norm in the field of qualitative research for many decades. According to Vasileiou, Barnett, Thorpe, and Young (2018) one of the advantages of using the interview protocol is that it is a helpful tool to maintain the structure and alignment of the questions concerning the topic of the study. In addition, Cairney and Denny (2015) found that interviews are often a form of emotional processes that can sometimes leave participants transformed in ways they had not anticipated. However, Kallio et al., (2016) argued that structured interviews may also cause problems for researchers, who serve as interviewers, because of possible confusion in asking follow-up questions. The interview guide was utilized to conduct onsite interviews and there was a time limit on follow-up questions to three.

The interviews were conducted in a small meeting room within the public works department of the participants to maximize their comfort and convenience. I also used a tape recording device to audio-record the interviews for purposes of transcriptions. Throughout the interview, I was courteous and professional while conducting the interviews to ensure that the participants continue to volunteer in the study. Each interview lasted for 60 minutes while finishing all three phases: introduction, interview proper, and summary or conclusion.

In the introduction, there was a brief discussion about the overview of the topic of the study to refresh the memory of the participants. I also mentioned the purpose and the flow of the interview to manage the expectations of the participants. The participants were asked questions based on the items in the interview guide. There were also follow-up questions based on the initial responses from the participants. In the conclusion phase, the researcher ensured that all of the participants answered the questions in the interview guide. I also used member checking to interpret the data by conducting follow-up interviews with the participants to ensure that all information collected is accurate and correct. According to Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, and Walter (2016), member checking is used to validate, verify, or assess the trustworthiness of qualitative results to include the accuracy and interpretation of the transcripts. In addition, the member checking protocol was utilized to conduct follow-up interviews to enhance the reliability and validity of the data and information collected for the study.

Document Review

I requested copies of human resource policies, records, or logs related to attendance and absenteeism of employees from the participants of the study. In addition, I also requested copies of any policies or records related to strategies for reducing absenteeism. The human resource department (HRD) may have to get special permission from their employees especially if some of the records includes specific information related to individual absenteeism. The main was to identify policies or records that indicate that some public works department leaders lack strategies to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. Additionally, a review of all collected informational data was reviewed for highlighted words, phrases, and sentences that can directly address the research questions of the study. NVivo is a software package has functions used for digitally coding texts or images that allows the user to synchronize evidence and make analytically richer intersections (Oliveira, Bitencourt, Zanardo, & Teixeira, 2016). The NVivo software was utilized to store all data related to the review of documents. The NVivo software was also be utilized to identify common themes and characteristics, which emerge from the document analysis. An advantage of creating a soft copy and importing data into NVivo was that the documents about the research study was stored in one place. A disadvantage of making the soft copy is that emerging themes may not be evident and essential data could be missing from the document review. Oliveira et al. (2016) found that by using this software, the researcher can manage the empirical material in a single location (text, spreadsheets, audio, video or images), and can add, modify, connect and

cross reference data. Using the NVivo software further enhanced the coding of themes and images was an acceptable protocol for categorizing data.

Data Organization Technique

In this qualitative case study, the data was organized and prepared to allow for open coding, creating categories, and safeguarding any data that was collected from the interview process (Elo et al., 2014). I used research logs and reflective journals to keep track of any data and information collected for the study. Research logs and reflective journals help researchers to keep accurate records that are free of bias and assumptions. The goal was to search for data or information that reflected problems with management trying to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. According to Ortlipp (2008) research logs and reflective journals help researchers to become active participants in the research process. The research logs and reflective journals were be stored in a folder in NVivo. I w used the word tree and text query function to identify emerging themes from the research logs and reflective journals.

Mouritsen (2013) asserted that when considering measures of safeguarding confidential data the information needs to be managed and handled properly to protect the data from being disclosed to other people. A safe was used to maintain all data collected from the study. All data was secured in an online database that has password protection and data encryption for 5 years to protect the rights of the participants. All raw data was maintained in a locked container for a period of 5 years. Maseh, (2015) found that ssafekeeping of data is vital to protect the confidentiality of the participants in a study. The data collected from this study will be destroyed after a period of 5 years.

Data Analysis

According to Oliveira et al. (2016) the NVivo software sources can be coded, and the material can be gathered into categories or *nodes*, where portions of the collected material are indexed and classified according to persons, places or organizations. I conducted the data analysis phase for this study using codes and thematic analysis of the data collected from the structured interviews and document reviews. The codes are indicated by color and category to reflect the theme of any data collected from the study. According to Williams and Moser (2019), coding in qualitative research is comprised of processes that enable collected data to be assembled, categorized, and thematically sorted, providing an organized platform for the construction of meaning.

The coding for this study was be determined by the data that was collected from the interviews. By having more than one data source, this allowed for triangulation, which is a term used to describe the deployment of multiple research methods in the study of the same phenomenon (Joslin & Müller, 2016). According to Marcio, Leonel, Carlos, and Rafael (2018) there are four types of triangulation: (a) data triangulation; (b) theoretical triangulation; (c) researcher triangulation; and (d) methodological triangulation. Nancy, Denise, Alba, Jennifer, and Alan (2014) argued that data triangulation involves the collection of data from different types of people, including individuals, groups, families, and communities, to gain multiple perspectives and validation of data. According to Mayer (2015) the data analysis process consists of data collection, data display, conclusions, drawing, verifying, and data deduction. The plan is to use data triangulation to gather data and information for this study. In the thematic analysis, the following steps from Braun, Clarke, and Terry (2014) was used: (a) familiarization, (b) coding, (c) initial theme development, (d) theme revision, (e) theme finalization, and (f) report generation. I preformed the first four steps for each of the three data sources with the intention to combine the results for the first four steps for all the three data sources to conduct the last two steps for the analysis to indicate the results from the collected data. All collected data was uploaded in the NVivo software version 12 program to analyze, code, and to identify themes of the data received from the study.

In the familiarization phase (Phase 1), I read each interview transcript twice. In the first round of reading there was a review of the answers from each participant, while considering the member-checked interpretation of the interviews. In the second round of reading, descriptive words were be highlighted that are related to the research question.

For the coding phase (Phase 2), I developed a scheme of codes for one of the 10 interview transcripts. The codes was made up of straightforward descriptive words for inclusion for the study. According to Roberts, Dowell, and Jing-Bao (2019), codes are a form of pattern recognition used in content analysis that emerge from the data to become the categories for analysis. The codes were terms that describe the highlighted texts from the first phase could address the research question of this study.

I applied the codes to the other descriptive texts in the other interview transcripts. In the third phase (Initial Theme Development), the goal is to carefully analyze and review the data and input the information into categories. These categories formed the initial themes list. In the NVivo software, Castleberry (2014) asserted that each theme will be considered as storage called nodes, which can represent anything that the researcher wants them to be and grants easy organization and reorganization of themes in the data. By utilizing the NVivo software program version 12 all collected data and themes was presented in the study.

In the fourth phase (Theme Revision), I revised the initial themes by deconstructing the themes and assessing if the codes are correctly grouped. All key themes obtained from the literature review and conceptual framework (transformational leadership theory) was indicated by the most current information collected for the study. All data and themes was inputted into the NVivo version 12 program.

In the fifth phase (Theme Finalization) I finalized the codes and themes and provide a description to relate the themes to the research questions. According to Williams and Moser (2019), asserted that coding in qualitative research is comprised of processes that enables collected data to be assembled, categorized, and thematically sorted, providing an organized platform for the construction of meaning. According to Castleberry and Nolen (2018) a theme captures something important about the data in relation to the research question and represents some level of patterned response or meaning within the data set. There was a comparison of all themes from the interviews and document reviews. Themes present for both data sources was considered as major themes. The themes that were present in just one data source would be minor themes. In the final phase (Report Generation) I wrote a discussion of the findings, which was presented in Section 3.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Reliability refers to the extent to which a measure, procedure, or instrument yields the same results on repeated trials (Kihn & Ihantola, 2015). According to Olson, McAllister, Grinnell, Gehrke Walters, and Appunn, (2016), reliability in qualitative research includes improving reliability means improving credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. Also, I used the member checking process to ensure the reliability of the data. Member checking provided participants with an opportunity to correct errors and challenge what is being perceived as wrong interpretations. Member checking also provided an opportunity to understand and assess what the participant intended to do through their actions. Dependability refers to the constancy of the data over similar conditions (Cope, 2014). I ensured that the collected data are consistent with the theme and topic of the study by aligning the codes with selected categories. Leung (2015) suggested that in qualitative research with diverse paradigms ever present, the essence of reliability for qualitative research lies with consistency. The plan was to ensure that any data collected from the study would be reliable and credible by ensuring data saturation. According to Palinkas et al. (2015), data saturation is achieved when there is enough information to replicate the study and no new themes or codes emerge from additional interviews. Reaching data saturation helped with the dependability of the results of the research study. Korstjens and Moser (2018) found that dependability involves participants' evaluation of the findings, interpretation, and recommendations of the study that all are supported by the data received from all participants of the study. The interview process with the participants was continued until no new information or themes emerged.

Validity

According to Kihn and Ihantola (2015), validity refers to the extent to which conclusions in research give an accurate description or explanation of what happened. Yin (2017) recommended the use of multiple sources of data and techniques to provide enough evidence to answer research questions and increase validity. I conducted structured interviews, document analysis of policies and records, on-site observations, and notate field notes in a reflective journal. According to FitzPatrick (2019) when accessing validity in qualitative research the following criteria are considered: (a) credibility, (b) transferability, and (c) confirmability. According to Korstjens and Moser (2018) credibility refers to the truth of the data or the participant views and the interpretation and representation of them by the researcher. I evaluated attendance records from the department of public works to determine any data and strategies for reducing absenteeism. Korstjens and Moser (2018) stated that transferability refers to results that can be applied to other settings or groups. Connelly (2016) also stated that transferability is about providing a rich and detailed description of the context, location and people studied. Morse (2015) asserted that transferability is essential for someone interested to transfer the original findings to another context, or individuals. According to Amankwaa (2016), transferability is a way of achieving a type of external validity. I also reviewed multiple data sources to gather and produce data and conduct a thematic analysis of all collected data.

According to Korstjens and Moser (2018), confirmability refers to the researcher's ability to demonstrate that the data are based on the participants' responses and not the researcher's biases or opinions. I plan to use member checking to improve the confirmability of the findings. Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell and Walter (2016) stated that member checking is about participant or respondent validation. Member checking is used to explore the credibility of results. Therefore, I used member checking to decrease research bias and involve the research participant in checking and confirming the results. Each participant was provided with a copy of the interview transcript. I conducted a member check interview to determine whether the transcript accurately reflects the participants' thoughts during the interview process.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, I provided a restatement of the problem statement, an indication of the role of the researcher, participants for the study, and reasoning for using the research method and research design. Section 2 also included information on the population, sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization techniques, data analysis, reliability and validity of the study. In Section 3, I presented the research findings, application to professional practice; implications for social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, reflections, and conclusion. Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore effective strategies that public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. I conducted semistructured interviews with nine leaders from one public works department who possessed at least 1 year of successful experience in using strategies to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. Data were collected from the semistructured interviews and a review of the human resources attendance and leave policy. I used NVivo to conduct an analysis of the study participants' responses and human resources attendance and leave policy, which revealed the following themes: (a) collaboration and employee engagement, (b) communication, and (c) organizational culture. These were the main contributors to employee absenteeism in the workplace.

Presentation of the Findings

The research question for this qualitative single case study was as follows: What effective strategies do public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace? I conducted semistructured interviews with nine leaders from the public works department who successfully used effective strategies to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. I also reviewed organizational documents, which included the human resources attendance and leave policy. After using NVivo to analyze and code the interview data, I discovered three main themes: (a) collaboration and employee engagement, (b) communication, and (c) organizational culture. I assigned codes of P1 to P9 for to maintain participant confidentiality. The themes identified in this study were

related to factors that contribute to employees' reasons for not attending work. Table 1 contains the public works leaders' overall demographic characteristics. The nine participants possessed over 90 years of combined experience working in leadership positions.

Table 1

Characteristics	Specifics	Quantity	
Gender	Female	3	
	Male	6	
Academic	Doctorate's	0	
Degree	Master's	2	
	Bachelor's	5	
Age	40-49	6	
	50-59	3	
Years of experien	ce 1-5	2	
leadership role	6-10	7	

Demographic Characteristics of Public Works Leaders

Theme 1: Collaboration and Employee Engagement

The first theme that emerged from the in-depth data analysis was collaboration and employee engagement. P1 commented "that a collaborative work environment that involves employee engagement reduces absenteeism." Osborne and Hammoud (2017) also suggested that organizations that collaborate and engage with their employees experience better customer satisfaction, increased employee productivity, and reduced absenteeism. P2 stated, "We collaborate with the unions who represents the city employees which helps keep them engaged in the workplace." In addition, P2 shared, "There are employees that act as union representatives in each section to help keep open channels of communications with the leadership in the public works department." Nunes, Richmond, Pampel, and Wood (2018) noted that there is an association between workplace collaboration, employee engagement, and reduced absenteeism that can result in potential cost-savings to employers. P3 advised, "Collaboration and employee engagement is important because the forum allows for leaders to better communicate with their subordinates in the work environment." P1 stated, "I would like to have more events such as cook-offs and team building contests to help keep the employees motivated which may help with deterring absenteeism in the workplace." Llorente-Alonso and Topa (2019) suggested that employee engagement is a work-related concept that refers to a pervasive affective-cognitive state characterized by vigor, dedication, and absorption. P4 stated,

I used a collaborative approach to record absenteeism to address leave abuse with my employees. Whenever one of my employees had a pre-disciplinary hearing I would give them their attendance record to review as a source to get them more engaged in the overall process.

P6 commented, "We always look for reasons on why employees were not coming to work and noticed there was a lack of collaboration with management that did not allow for employee engagement,"

All of the participants implied that collaboration and employee engagement are two factors that are needed in the public works department to ensure more commitment to job satisfaction and organizational success. P4 shared, "We use collaboration as a way to assist the unions that represent our employees in hearings that are subject to disciplinary actions." P2 claimed, "building a positive work environment allows an employee the chance to focus more on work and can reduce absenteeism in the workplace." Ritzel, Kohler and Mann (2017) suggested that a collaborative environment provides avenues for employees to actively interact and share knowledge and skills, in turn fostering critical thinking, problem-solving, and decision-making. In addition, O'Connor and Crowley-Henry (2019) asserted that employers have a moral responsibility to care for their employees, and opportunities for employee engagement form part of the overall package of care. All of the participants throughout the entire interview process continuously talked about the importance of collaboration and employee engagement in the public works department.

Employees and leaders need to understand their roles when collaborating and engaging in the workplace. Collaboration and employee engagement are necessary elements in the workplace. Llorente-Alonso and Topa (2019) found that collaboration and employee engagement aims to change tasks or working conditions in order to ensure either better job performance or higher work-related motivation. Cornwell, Howard-Grenville, and Hampel (2018) suggested that to date, there is preliminary evidence that collaborative partnerships influence the quality of employees' work relationships and in particular areas, such as corporate social responsibility. P8 stated,

We have interviews with the employee whenever there is a problem with their attendance. I have my staff work with human resources to have disciplinary hearings for any employee that wants to indicate their reasons for using unscheduled leave. This helps with keeping the employees engaged and also indicates that we value their collaboration efforts to work with management. Osborne and Hammoud (2017) found that employee engagement and human behaviors have a connection to collaboration and the essence of work engagement.

P7 commented, "We overcame barriers in working with the employees to work together in a partnership to adhere to the rules in the attendance and leave policy to help reduce leave abuse." This reflects the ideas of Osborne and Hammoud (2017), who suggested that an employee's level of engagement derives from his or her being able to control personal behaviors and goals. Moreover, P6 asserted, "I feel that overall its always best for our employees to know how the attendance and leave policy works to keep them informed and educated on the process." Llorente-Alonso and Topa (2019) suggested that engagement is a work-related concept which refers to a pervasive affective-cognitive state characterized by vigor, dedication, and absorption. P9 maintained, "We are encouraging the unions that represent our employees to help us with improving collaboration and employee engagement." P9 also stated, "The previous attendance and leave policy was flawed and had to be revised to help build a more positive collaboration and relationship with the employees." Bickerton and Miner (2019) asserted that work engagement is a persistent, positive affective-motivational state of fulfilment in employees characterized by vigor, dedication, and absorption. Shanock et al. (2019) suggested that human resource professionals often promote favorable treatment of employees (praise, fairness, supportive supervision, and developmental opportunities) as a way to enhance employee well-being, decrease turnover, and encourage job engagement and better performance.

When employees are engaged, they are more motivated to be at work. Chen (2019) suggested that employee engagement means that employees are energetic and mentally resilient at work, dedication means that employees embrace their jobs deeply and enthusiastically, and absorption reflects that employees concentrate on the work happily and absorbedly. P3 affirmed, "The collaboration and engagement process allows leadership with an opportunity to advise our employees about pros and cons of the attendance and leave policy." P6 noted that "all of the managers use the attendance and leave policy which includes a 7-step process to help reduce absenteeism in the workplace." Martinussen, Kaiser, Adolfsen, Patras, and Richardsen (2017) asserted that good collaboration between employees and their leaders can be linked to beneficial consequences for the partnerships, which could lead to better outcomes and increased job satisfaction.

Leaders should ensure that their followers are engaged in the workplace. Matthews, Stanley, and Davidson (2018) found that employees could be disengaged if they were distracted from work because of a challenge in their personal circumstances. Similarly, P2 stated, "We do have employees that have personal issues in their personal lives that sometimes cause them to be disengaged in the workplace." P3 also shared, "My employees are happy most of the time because they enjoy their work." P5 suggested that "it is important for a manager to offer mentoring to their employees to help reduce disengagement in the workplace." Brewington and Darko (2020) found that having a positive organizational culture is vital to the success of any organization and can enhance employee productivity, engagement, and retention as well as strengthen relationships with partners and other stakeholders. All of the participants agreed that engaged employees who embrace the attendance leave policy will help reduce absenteeism in the workplace.

Correlation to the Literature

The findings specified in Theme 1 aligned with the findings of Kwon and Park (2019) human resource practices on collaboration and employee engagement defined as the as the harnessing of organization members selves to their work roles. Kwon and Park specified that these type of leaders allow their employees to express themselves physically, cognitively, and emotionally during role performances. Participant (P2) noted that, "all employees to should be able to express themselves whenever they are collaborating and engaging in within the workplace". "I also consider my relationships with my employees to be similar to a partnership as we both are vested in working together". "If employees feel like they are appreciated they will be more engaged to come to work". P2's comments confirms Kwon and Park findings that choose to collaborate and engage with their leaders will result in a positive workforce and reduce absenteeism. Kwon and Park (2019) also found that employee engagement benefits employees in terms of a variety of positive attitudes and organizational outcomes, including personal initiative and learning behaviors. Leaders will benefit from employees that collaborate with them as they will be more engaged in the workplace.

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

Theme 1 supports Burns (1978) transformational leadership theory that leaders help followers grow and develop into leaders by responding to individual followers' needs by allowing them to engage and collaborate by aligning the objectives and goals of the followers. Bass (1985) found that transformational leaders, are those who stimulate and inspire followers to both achieve extraordinary outcomes and, in the process, develop their own leadership capacity. Osborne and Hammoud (2017) suggested that dedicated and meaningful work enables employees to realize how valuable they are within the organization and makes them engaged and more willing to collaborate with their leaders. Bass (1985) found that transformational leaders behave in ways that motivate and inspire those around them by providing meaning and challenge to their followers' work. Bake (2019) noted that effective transformational leadership can motivate employees to engage and help create an environment where they feel valued and wanted. Therefore, when a leader empowers their employees to engage and collaborate the interaction can result in positive and influential outcomes thus reducing absenteeism in the workplace.

Theme 2: Communication

The second theme that emerged from analysis of the data was communication. Kelly and MacDonald (2019) found that workplace communication can have lasting impacts on employee psychological and physical health. P6 stated, that "Communication has been a serious problem with some of the management teams and employees". P9 indicated "one of the problems with the communication is that some leaders in the organization are still going by the old attendance and leave policy to address absenteeism". P9 also stated, that "The old attendance had separate policies for tardiness and absenteeism which caused a problem for some managers to understand". Mazzei, Butera and Quaratino (2019) suggested that role of employee communication is crucial to configure an inclusive employee relations approach conducive to employee voice, suggestions, concerns or opinions about work-related issues with the intent to improve organizational functioning.

Leaders that communicate effectively inspire their employees to remain committed to their organization. Walden, Jung, and Westerman (2017) found that open communication strengthens employees' commitment to their organization and helps reduce the likelihood that they will look for new employment opportunities outside of the organization. Giudici and Filimonau (2019) suggested that managers represent the most crucial source of information for employees in organizations while creating effective internal communication is paramount to stay competitive and cultivate an organizational culture with a collective mission and vision. Kim (2018) asserted that employees' communication behaviors can have particular internal and external impacts through various kinds of social networks, the misinterpretation of organizational messages can make a crisis worse endangering the organization. P7stated, "We do have am human resources representation for each unit of the public works department and they are required to communicate with the employees on a regular basis". P3 stated, "Employees who abuse the leave policy sometimes blame their reason for being absent on a bad communications with their manager".

Employees look to their leaders for direction and communication. Kim (2018) found that effective communication reduces uncertainty and ambiguity by filling the communication gap between management and employees; to achieve this, organizational management should understand employees as one of the important strategic

constituencies. Slijepcevic, Bovan, and Radojevic (2018) argued that communication is important for all the members in the organization, it is extremely important to know how to communicate with managers, and in what way with employees. Bang and Midelfart (2017) suggested that management teams typically communicate to their employees to set overall goals, strategies, and priorities and make decisions vital to the organization. Participant (P3) stated, "I feel that the when senior management allowed each area in the public works department to enforce the attendance and leave policy it caused a lot communication issues". "Once the process was centralized with the human resource department managers could enforce the attendance and leave policy more effectively". Bang and Midelfart (2017) found that when leaders communicate better its members are more eager to discuss issues, solve problems, give one another advice, and monitor ongoing processes within the organization.

Leaders that provide effective communications to their employees will be better positioned to be successful. Maria (2019) found that effective interpersonal communication will succeed if it creates good effects, such as understanding, changing attitudes, better relationships will foster trust and openness, and can foster enthusiasm in employees so as to foster high work motivation. P2 stated, "Once our upper management realized there were flaws in the attendance and leave policy they had it revised". The new attendance and leave policy consists of 7 steps that details the sick and absence abuse section of the attendance and leave policy. P9 stated, that "The new attendance and leave policy contains effective strategies for reducing absenteeism in the workplace". Mazzei, Butera, and Quaratino (2019) found that employee communication sustains people in feeling a sense of belonging to the organization, builds a culture of transparency between managers and employees. P2 stated, "We now have individual time keepers that can effectively keep track of attendance records that can be communicated to any employee that abuses the sick and absence section of the policy". "I also communicated the revised leave policy to each of my employees and had them sign off on a memorandum of understanding".

Leaders must provide effective communications for the stakeholders in the workplace. Oliveri and McCulla (2019) suggested that workplace communication involves more than grammar and includes the coherent use of argumentative or rhetorical stances to recognize the conventions for relating well with members within a particular community. Mazzei, Butera, and Quaratino (2019) found that effective communicating allows employees to share information and create meanings, to share ideas and opinions with supervisors about their roles and objectives. P8 stated, "My employees perform the waste collections for the public works department and whenever one of them calls off from work they are required to communicate it to their supervisor and co-workers". "If there is a break down in communications it will affect the operations of the department". Hoeven, Miller, Peper, and Dulk (2016) found that co-workers may be pleased that policies exist, but they express annoyance at having to carry the workloads of absent employees. P8 further stated that, "When my employees call off from work it also causes negative attitudes with their co-workers because they have do more work to cover the absences"

Beck (2016) argued that when employee preferences are understood, managers are in a better position to cater their communications to build relationships. Kelly and MacDonald (2019) found that when communication fosters this type of psychological connection (i.e., solidarity) between supervisors and subordinates, subordinates have more positive intrinsic work dispositions, including higher motivation, lower burnout, and higher job satisfaction. P5 stated, "Whenever one of my employees is having attendance issues I will schedule a counseling session with them to see if there is lack communication". "Most of my employees come to work as scheduled but there are a few of them that abuses the attendance and leave policy". Slijepcevic, Bovan, and Radojevic (2018) found that the achievement of organizational communication is measured by the degree of success in guiding activities, i.e. motivating all participants to behave in a certain way. Desmidt and George (2016) argued that the focus on employee communication satisfaction is predicated on the assumption that organizational satisfaction is a derivative of communication effectiveness and is a useful measure of an organization's communication performance and quality. Slijepcevic et al. (2018) suggested that as communication is important for all the members in the organization, it is extremely important to know how to communicate with managers, and in what way with employees.

Iacob and Badina (2017) found that communication is present at every moment of the personal and professional life. Mazzei, Butera, and Quaratino (2019) suggested that the role of employee communication is crucial to configure an inclusive employee relations approach conducive to employee voice, communication of ideas, suggestions, or concerns or opinions about work-related issues. P7 stated, "While most of my employees understands the attendance and leave policy I still allow them time to voice their concerns". "I believe that effective communications with my employees is vital to our organizational success". P3 stated, that "a good communications with our employees helps us maintain honestly and trust which helps reduce absenteeism". Niniek and Lantara (2019) found that the organizational communication climate serves as a connector between individual employees and organizations.

Braun, Hernandez, Kirchner, Stegmann, and Dick (2019) suggested that communication is a key component in coordinating and leading team members toward a common goal, leaders use roughly 80% of their working time for interactions with coworkers and employees. Kang and Sung (2017) found that communication behaviors of employees who interact with the public are critical because employees are perceived as a credible source of information regarding the organization. Most of the employees that work in the public works department interacts with the general public on a daily basis. P8stated, "All of my employees have to work in the public and they have to deal with people every day". "They normally work in teams and there is usually a team that addresses any concerns". "The key to being successful is knowing how to communicate and motivate my employees". P4stated, "We must invest time in coaching our workers so that they know how to be effective on the job". "This also includes having honest conversations with my employees about their work perform especially when their performance reviews are due".

Correlation to the Literature

The findings specified in Theme 2 aligned with the findings of Kelly and MacDonald (2019) human resource practices on communication in the workplace. Kelly and MacDonald (2019) suggested that subordinates who feel comfortable communicating with their supervisor and who believe that their ideas are valued are more content than subordinates who are missing such a relationship with their supervisor. P5 noted that, "Communication is very important when you are in leadership". "I have weekly staff meetings with my subordinate supervisors to go over the tasking's that needs to be completed in the unit". "I also have an open door for anyone that wants come and talk with me about any concerns or issues". Kelly and MacDonald (2019) found that leadership styles that promote upward and downward communication have been shown to foster a plethora of positive outcomes within the workplace, group collaborations, and team contexts. P5 comments confirmed Kelly and MacDonald's findings in that there is a positive connection when leaders communicate effectively with their subordinates in the workplace. In addition, Kelly and MacDonald (2019) found that individuals who desire to be more effective leaders and for organizations that have training programs dedicated to leadership development, understanding the antecedents of effective leadership, grounded in communication, is essential. Leaders that embrace communication will have a better relationship with their followers to include reducing absenteeism in the workplace.

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

Theme 2 supports Burns (1978) transformational leadership theory that leaders help followers grow and develop into leaders by responding to individual followers' needs by allowing them to engage, collaborate, and communicate by aligning the objectives and goals of the followers. Burns (1978) transforming leadership is moral action and entails leaders and followers moving up some scale of values and human development where followers may become leaders. Bass and Riggio (2006) found that transformational leaders, are those who stimulate and inspire followers to both achieve extraordinary outcomes and, in the process, develop their own leadership capacity. Eisenberg, Post, and DiTomaso (2019) suggested that transformational leadership influences followers by appealing to their individuality and by using verbal as well as nonverbal communication. Majeed, Jamshed, Nazri, and Mustamil (2019) asserted that the theory of transformational leadership argues that leader practices can empower workers to take an interest in performing extra-role behavior with zeal and enthusiasm. Bass and Riggio (2006) suggested that transformational leaders behave in ways that motivate and inspire those around them by providing meaning and challenge to their followers' work. Conceptually, the transformational leadership theory is based on the followers being motivated by the actions of their leaders in the workplace.

Theme 3: Organizational Culture

The first theme that emerged from the in-depth data analysis was organizational culture. Di Stefano, Scrima, and Parry (2019) found that a complex phenomenon that characterizes life in organizations is the manifestation of behaviors that betray the

fiduciary relationship between employee and organization. Kava et al. (2019) suggested that culture refers to the basic assumptions and norms shared by members within an organization, while climate is defined as the shared perceptions and meaning given to practices and policies within an organization. All of the participants had expressed how they felt about the current work culture within the public works department. P3 stated that, "We have some employees that have been with public works department over 20 years and they feel that should not adhere to the new attendance and leave policy". "These employees are usually set in their ways and are not open to change in the workplace".

Leaders should ensure that their employees are comfortable in their work related roles. Erhardt, Martin-Rios, and Heckscher (2016) found that in order for organizational members to fit with organizational culture (i.e., by doing the right thing), there is great pressure to learn and conform to these rituals. Guillaume and Austin (2016) suggested that the most important thing in understanding the influences of a strong and functional culture is to determine what problems face an organization or industry and how leadership value enactment affects the institutional workforce. Kartolo and Kwantes (2019) asserted that organizational culture varies, there is a general consensus in the literature that organizational culture reflects, and is shaped by, values, attitudes and expectations that are held in common by members within the organization.

P9 noted, "There is definitely an issue with the organizational culture as some employees are finding ways to take advantage of the attendance and leave policy". P5stated, "Some of the employees have found ways to abuse the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and this is causing some staffing issues". According to Carter (2020) the FMLA law mandates that an eligible employee may take twelve weeks of unpaid annual leave to care for a sick spouse, child, parent, or recover from a debilitating illness. P5noted that "The FMLA law is for any employee that has a serious medical condition". "However, some employees that do not have a serious medical condition are finding doctors that will give them a medical excuse to misuse the FMLA law". P3 stated, "I feel that issues with the FMLA policy is because of the current organizational culture". While the attendance and leave policy is effective for reducing absenteeism the FMLA law has guidelines that protect employees against disciplinary actions.

Employees are considered part of the organizational culture. Lopez-Martin and Topa (2019) found that organizational culture is a set of core values, assumptions, and norms that is shared by the members of an organization to generate an environment that has an influence on employees' attitudes and behaviors. Hartnell, Ou, Kinicki, Choi, and Karam (2019) suggested that organizational culture is an important predictor of organizational effectiveness, but it is also part of an organizational system that consists of highly interdependent elements such as strategy, structure, leadership. Yu and Lee (2020) specifically argued that most public organizations share values and beliefs and socially constructed patterns of action that guide the behavior of their employees, resulting in their unique organizational culture. Hartnell et al. (2019) found that there are four culture quadrants: clan, adhocracy, market, and hierarchy represent core values that prioritize fundamental organizational goals and articulate preferred means to attain them. P3 stated, "I feel that the public works department has a clan culture like work environment". According to Hartnell et al. (2019) clan cultures focus on coordinating employees' interrelationships through encouraging participation, cooperation, and collaboration, and prioritizing employees' development. P1 stated, "I think the organizational culture in my department is more like an adhocracy culture because we believe in being flexible and transparent". According to Hartnell et al. (2019) adhocracy culture combines flexibility and discretion with external focus and differentiation. Participant (P6) noted that, "we have several management layers in our department and I believe that we have a hierarchy culture type of work environment". According to Hartnell et al. (2019) hierarchy culture combines internal focus and integration with stability and control. P6 also noted, "Our senior management likes to give directives from the top that will enhance and stabilize leadership at all levels".

Leaders should establish an organizational culture that involves support and commitment. Esaki (2020) found that in organizational cultures organizations need to create containment, support, structure, involvement, and validation. Galdikiene et. al. (2019) suggested that organizational climate is seen as the way the members of these organizations perceive and experience the environment in which they carry out their everyday work. Di Stefano, Scrima, and Parry (2019) found that culture is manifested in the nature of the exchange patterns that emerge between employees, norms, and values employees usually invoke to orient themselves to others and to the organization. P1 reported, "The managers in the public works department all have different leadership styles that can influence the culture of the organization". P6 noted, "The attendance and

leave policy was revised to correspond with the beliefs, core values, and organizational culture".

Zhou, Chen, and Liu (2019) emphasized that an organization with a rational culture emphasizes order and the external environment, and focuses on organizational productivity, goal fulfilment, achievement, and performance, to promote output maximization. Olejarski, Potter, and Morrison (2019) found that culture, public-sector politics, and public performance operate together to produce learning. P7 noted, "The current culture can sometimes be a learning experience for new employees that begin working in the department". "A lot of the work that we do is outside regardless of the weather conditions and the new employees usually have to make adjustments". "We engage our employees by allowing them to give their feedback and make contributions to the overall work culture". Lee and Jang (2020) specified that organizational culture is a force that transforms members and has a strong influence on their behavior, attitude, and performance. Lopez-Martin and Topa (2019) suggested that organizational culture has been linked to employees' performance and an organization's effectiveness and influence on the relationship between job demands, resources, and employees' outcomes

Leaders should strive for providing a professional work environment. Susca (2019) found that decisions fostered by an unhealthy culture can disable the defenses of the best safety management systems and programs. Foucreault, Ollier-Malaterre, and Menard (2018) specified that organizational work–life culture comprises of three components: (a) perceived time demands, (b) perceived consequences of the use of work–life programs, and (c) perceived managerial support. Maryono (2020) suggested

that organizational culture is instrumental in maximizing working organization to support the employees in order to work better in an organization. Brown, Kim, and Faerman (2019) implied that work-life culture as the shared assumptions, beliefs and values regarding the extent to which an organization supports and values the integration of an employee's work and private life.

P9 reported that "The work cultures in the public works department usually change when a new mayor is elected". The current head leader has been in office since 2006 and they have instilled a work culture that incorporates the beliefs and values of the organization". P5 noted that "Head leader is a very professional leader that leads by example". "The head leader is an elected senior official that has to maintain a diverse working environment that consists of employees with different ethical backgrounds". In addition, employees have to feel comfortable working with their supervisors to maintain a leader and follower relationship. Maryono (2020) suggested that a strong culture leads the employees to do a better job, therefore every employee has to understand and implement the culture. Zhou, Chen, and Liu (2019) found that Organizations with a developmental culture focus on pursuing growth, resource acquisition, creativity, and external environment adaptability.

Leaders should manage the expectations and perceptions involving work culture. Foucreault, Ollier-Malaterre, and Menard (2018) suggested that perceptions regarding an organizational culture are based on formal policies (flextime), practices (replying to colleagues' emails in the evening), and expectations (taking work home) in employees' work environment. Canning (2020) found that Organizational mindsets will influence perceptions of a company's cultural norms (collaboration, innovation, and ethical behavior), which will, in turn, mediate employees' organizational trust and commitment to the organization. P6 stated, "The human resources department provides all employees with a yearly leadership survey to measures the organizational culture and work environment". "This allows the employees with an opportunity to give their input on their entire of chain of leadership". P2 reported that "some employees use the leadership survey to criticize their leaders in a negative way". "The results of the leadership survey is distributed by the human resources department to all of the leaders in the organization".

Saad and Abbas (2018) argued that organizational culture at its peak becomes a source of competitive advantage for organizations, since it affects commitment of people at work, and it arises from the underlying assumptions, beliefs, norms, values and attitudes. Silva, Castro, Dos-Santos, and Neto (2018) found that satisfaction includes a multi-factorial feature that is reflected in many elements of the organizational environment, such as compensation, organizational climate, relationships with colleagues and superiors. P1 stated, "The public works department leadership promotes diversity and career growth to keep the employees engaged in the work place". "Overall, the hierarchy at city hall has provided all leaders with the opportunity to contribute to keeping the work culture positive and steady". Di Stefano, Scrima, and Parry (2019) specified that organizational values may underpin the employee–organization relationship, providing a frame in which the relationship employee–organization develops. All of the participants

in this study indicated that leaders should have a good working relationship with their employees that is beneficial to both parties in the workplace.

Correlation to the Literature

The findings specified in Theme 3 aligned with the findings of Hartnell, Ou, Kinicki, Choi, and Karam's (2019) human resource practices on strategy, structure, culture, leadership, and high performance work practices (HPWPs). Hartnell et al. (2019) found that high performance work practices (HPWPs) penalizes for failure, rewards to bind their members into the system, norms and values to justify and stimulate required activities, and authority control and direct organizational cultural behavior. P8 noted that, "There is a system in place that rewards employees for superior work performance and disciplinary actions for those who fail to meet expected work standards". P8's comments confirmed Hartnell et al. (2019) findings that there is incentives for employees to earn and achieve if they do what is expected of them while at work. In addition, Hartnell et al. (2019) confirmed that organizational culture is an important predictor of organizational effectiveness, but it is also part of an organizational system that consists of highly interdependent elements such as strategy, structure, and leadership. These elements allow leaders to engage and motivate their employees to higher performances thus reducing absenteeism in the workplace.

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

Theme 3 supports Burns (1978) transformational leadership theory that motivates followers by appealing to higher ideals and moral values. Bass and Riggio (2006) found that transformational leaders enhance the self-concepts of followers and encourage

followers' personal and collective identification with both the leader's and the organization's goals and objectives. Liu, Wang, and Chen (2019) suggested that transformational leaders motivate and encourage their subordinates to perform beyond their expectations and promote employees to form autonomous motivation by fulfilling their psychological needs related to self-determination. In this study, I found that public works departmental leaders' human resources management practices, such as empowerment, engagement, incentives, and rewards, inspire and motivate their employee's job satisfaction, and job performance. Perreault, Baker, Cohen, and Blanchard (2020) found that transformational leaders stimulate teams to attain greater goals, cultivating trust, cooperation, and inspiring others to perform beyond what is expected of them through the nurturing of individual development and empowerment.

Farahnak, Ehrhart, Torres, and Aarons (2020) suggested that leaders influence subordinates' attitudes through their leadership style, specifically through transformational leadership behaviors that encourage the acceptance of change and innovation. Brown, Brown, and Nandedkar (2019) emphasized that transformational leadership contains four main dimensions: idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration. Organizations must have incentives and rewards in place to justify employee performance in the workplace. Brown et al. (2019) found that the transformational leadership theory is associated with core values, goal setting, incentives, and rewards are effective for enhancing organizational culture.

Applications to Professional Practice

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore effective strategies that public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. Understanding employee absenteeism and the issues that may better equip public works department leaders with the knowledge and processes to establish effective strategies to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. Buzeti (2020) specified that employees who perform routine and repetitive (the same) jobs with a low level of autonomy and responsibility, and a low possibility to make and create decisions, are more inclined to be absent from work. Public works department leaders have an opportunity to reduce employee absenteeism by having effective attendance and leave policy strategies.

The participants that participated in the study offered suggestions and processes that could allow public works leaders the opportunity to adopt leave and attendance strategies that reduce absenteeism. Geydar, Arumugam, Kuppusamy, and Singh (2020) found that any organization nowadays, whether large or small, private or public, rural or urban, faces the phenomenon of employee absence. Public works department leaders and other business leaders may apply the findings from this study to help reduce absenteeism by establishing a collaborative and engaging work environment that promotes empowerment, incentives, rewards, and professional development opportunities.

Participants in the study stated that a collaborative and empowerment environment is an effective strategy to reduce absenteeism. Public works department leaders use effective strategies to reduce absenteeism and improve employee morale, collaboration, employee engagement, and job satisfaction. The participants reported that collaboration, employee engagement, and organizational culture increases employee morale and empowerment reduces absenteeism. P1 stated that "leaders collaborate with employees to establish a sense of comradery to improve motivation to reduce absenteeism". P2 noted that "employee incentives, employee recognition, and rewards reduce absenteeism". P3 reported that "Empowerment and job satisfaction improves employee morale and job effectiveness".

In this study, I found that leadership practices could improve and add value to the public works department effectiveness and professional practices in the local government sector. Leaders may use the findings of this study as a resource to explore new literature about the execution of professional practices in the public works department reduce absenteeism. Public works leaders could improve employee engagement and effectiveness by (a) increasing employee development and job satisfaction (b) increase employee engagement and collaboration opportunities, and (c) empowerment of employees in the workplace. Findings from this study support the need for effective strategies to reduce absenteeism. Geydar et al. (2020) found that because of absenteeism a company losses approximately eight days a year, which is equivalent to 3% of working time in a year. Given the burden of the employee absenteeism issue, previous studies support the recommendation for the public works department to implement effective strategies for reducing absenteeism.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include the potential for public works department leaders to explore the main causes that are related to employee absenteeism.

Decreasing absenteeism may reduce the local government's related costs and expenses thereby increasing resources for supporting social initiatives, individuals, and communities. Stephan, Patterson, Kelly, and Mair (2016) suggested that the opportunity for positive social change is evident when public works department leaders reduce employee absenteeism and use additional funds to improve the standards of professional standards for the stakeholders. Dixon, Wales, Pennington, and Calega (2019) found that improving the effectiveness of the public works department may reduce employee absenteeism and improve job satisfaction. Using the findings of this study, public works department leaders may achieve social change by establishing effective attendance and leave policy strategies to reduce absenteeism and improve management effectiveness, which benefits the employees, stakeholders, and the community.

Additionally, the participants indicated that social change initiatives keep employees engaged and motivated to come to work. Stephan, Patterson, Kelly, and Mair (2016) noted that positive social change are expressed in terms of tangible improvements to individuals, communities, organizations, institutions, cultures, or societies, as the finding could affect social change and behavior. Wittmayer et al. (2019) suggested that social initiatives can enhance transformative leadership strategies that will provide employees with social innovation and professional development opportunities. Kelly (2018) emphasized that organizations that provide more professional development opportunities for their employees can stimulate, develop, and progress their employees increase for knowledge and productivity. Garanina, Andronova, Lashmaykina, Maltseva, and Polyakov (2017) suggested that the professional development can be seen as the desire of increasing the level of self-efficacy and the professional competence. Hager et al. (2017) found that the positive impact of enhanced employee engagement and professional development has been well described and linked to many human resources goals to include increased retention and decreased absenteeism. Public works department leaders that embrace effective human resources strategies, such as employee engagement and professional development opportunities, may serve as a solution to reduce absenteeism and provide social benefits to meet the needs of employees, stakeholders, and the community.

Recommendations for Action

Employees value organizations that are committed to supporting their well-being. Gupta, Agarwal, and Khatri (2016) suggested that the perceptions of employees that the organization cares about as well as values their service and contributions could lead to positive employee relationships and behaviours. Vardaman et al. (2016) found that organizational commitment holds that perceptions of organizational support to which an employee believes the organization values an individual's contribution and cares about their well-being elicits positive and behavioral responses to include decreasing absenteeism. Public works department leaders and other business leaders should pay attention to the results of this study and consider using the strategies to improve on, collaboration, employee engagement, job satisfaction, and workplace recognition to reduce absenteeism. These strategies may decrease employee absenteeism and improve leadership effectiveness. Based on the results of this study, I propose the following recommendations for action, which may lead to reduce absenteeism in the public works department:

1. Build collaborative and supportive work environments. This

recommendation for action means that public works department leaders believe that a collaborative and supportive organizational culture increases employees' work performance and job satisfaction and reduces employee absenteeism. Haque, Fernando, and Caputi (2019) found that leading responsibly is likely to promote a collaborative and positive work environment, increased organizational commitment, and reduced absenteeism in the workplace. Public works department leaders should provide their employees with effective leadership and organizational support to obtain a good working relationship that offers job satisfaction and organizational growth.

2. Implement opportunities for professional development.

This recommendation for action means that public works department leaders should promote job enhancement programs to the employees to include professional development and employee engagement. Huang, Hung, and Hsu (2020) asserted that professional development includes organization, education and training, as a part of human resources, could positively affect the promotion of employees, job morale, interpersonal relationship, and the acquisition of professional knowledge. Organizations that promote professional learning opportunities to their organizations will enhance the professional development of their employees.

3. Implement performance incentives and rewards. This recommendation

for action means that public works department employees are regularly rewarded for their job performance, work efforts, and achieved goals, which leads to higher employee retention and reduced absenteeism. Rewards and goal setting incentives are necessary to recognize employees for their work efforts. Law (2016) found that there are various types of rewards such as retention bonus, on the spot awards, holiday bonus, noncash award, and culture-specific bonuses that can keep employees motivated and engaged in the workplace. Public works department leaders must recognize their employees for their individual time and efforts. Gunarso and Moeins (2019) suggested that awards are considered to be useful, at least for their short-term effects because there is merit for the recognition given to the recipients for employee retention and to decrease absenteeism.

By implementing effective strategies to reduce employee absenteeism, public works department leaders may be able improve employee relations and better serve the community and local government. I intend to publish the findings from this study in various academic business journals and disseminate the results in scholarly literature, conferences, and workshops related to employee absenteeism in public works department. I recommend that public works department leaders review the findings of this study and implement these strategies in their organizations.

Recommendations for Further Research

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore effective strategies that public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace. Although the findings of this study expanded my knowledge of the existing literature on absenteeism in the workplace, public works department leaders identified various reasons that employees call off from work. The findings of this study indicated the need for further research. Because this study was delimited to the public works department, future qualitative researchers should explore other strategies leaders consider effective in reducing absenteeism in other geographical locations.

Recommendations for future research should address some of the limitations of this study. The limitations included in this study was only having access to the leaders in the public works department. I conducted the study at one location located in Ohio, which limited the generalizability of the findings. Future researchers should consider increasing the sample size of this study. In addition, sampling local, state, and federal government organizations should enable future researchers to collect in-depth data on absenteeism in the workplace. Interviewing leaders at the other government organizations should allow future researchers the opportunity to explore other different perspectives on absenteeism. In addition, future researchers should consider studying leaders in other business sectors to determine if the findings can apply to other industries. Furthermore, future researchers should consider using other research methodologies such as quantitative and mixed methods examine the relationship between absenteeism and other variables, such as (a) collaboration and employee engagement, (b) communication, and (c) organizational culture were the main contributors to employee absenteeism in the workplace. By conducting other studies to examine these variables, future researchers could provide local government leaders with new statistical data that may reduce absenteeism in the workplace.

Reflections

Completing the Doctor of Business Administration (DBA) was a very time consuming process but enriching. I struggled mainly with balancing academics and working a full-time job. However, I made my academics a priority and spent many days doing homework. My daughter, siblings, family, and friends supported my ambitions to completing this study. During the process I learned a lot about the elements of the qualitative research methodology and case study processes to evaluate existing literature relating to my research topic. The knowledge that I gained from completing this study helped me explore strategies public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace.

In my interactions with public works department leaders, I learned that local governments use effective strategies from the attendance leave policy to reduce absenteeism. Securing participants was problematic mainly due to the inconvenience of contacting organizations to volunteer their time and resources for this study. I was the primary data collection instrument and I developed a very professional relationship with the participants to conduct a more comprehensive and transparent interview. All of the participants were very eager and forthcoming to participate in this study and provided detailed information to the interview questions.

Conclusion

Nunes, Richmond, Pampel, and Wood (2018) found that when unplanned absences occur, employers incur direct replacement worker compensation, overtime costs and indirect lost productive time of coworkers and supervisors costs. Brummelhuis, Johns, Lyons, and Hoeven (2016) asserted that absenteeism is an employee's failure to report for work can be seen as deviant behavior as the employee falls short in their responsibilities resulting in reduced organizational productivity. Ticharwa, Cope, and Murray (2019) suggested that strategies that reduce the number of absent employees can benefit organizations immensely. The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore effective strategies that public works department leaders use to reduce absenteeism in the workplace.

I used the NVivo software to code, organize, and conduct an analysis of the study participants' responses and human resources attendance and leave policy which revealed the following themes, which were: (a) collaboration and employee engagement, (b) communication, and (c) organizational culture. The findings of this study aligned with the existing literature and Burns (1978) transformational theory relating to strategies on reducing absenteeism. Recommendations for action include (a) build collaborative and supportive work environments (b) implement opportunities for professional development. (c) implement performance incentives and rewards. These strategies may help public works department leaders improve leadership effectiveness and reduce absenteeism in the workplace.

References

- Abdalla, M. M., Gois, L., Oliveira, L., Eduardo, C., Azevedo, F., & Gonzalez, R. K.
 (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administraco: Ensino E Pesquisa*, *16*(1), 66.
 https://dx.doi.org/doi-10.130582018191578
- Abdullah, A., Ling, Y-L, & Peng, C. (2016). Workplace happiness, transformational leadership and affective commitment. *International Conference of Social Sciences* and Humanities. http://dx.doi.org/10.1166asl.2017.7588
- Addae, H. M., Johns, G., & Boies, K. (2013). The legitimacy of absenteeism from work: A nine-nation exploratory study. *Cross Cultural Management*, 20, 402-428. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/CCM-05-2012-004

Abelha, D. M., da Costa Carneiro, P. C., & de Souza Costa Neves Cavazotte, F
(2018). Transformational leadership and job satisfaction: Assessing the influence of organizational contextual factors and individual characteristics. *Brazilian Journal of Business Management*, 20, 516-532. http://dx.doi.org/10.781900.3949Akhter, J. (2015). Prevalence of workplace

bullying among health care professionals. *ASA University Review*, *9*(1), 81–92. Retrieved from http://www.asaub.edu.bd/asaub review.php

Alatawi, M. A. (2017). The myth of the additive effect of the transformational leadership model. *Contemporary Management Research*, 13(1), 19-29. http://dx.doi.org/:10.7903/cmr.16269

- Allisey, A., Rodwell, J., & Noblet, A. (2016). An application of an extended effortreward imbalance model to police absenteeism behaviour. *Personnel Review*, 45, 663-680. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/PR-06-2014-0125
- Alvarez, O., Castillo, I., Molina-Garcia, V., & Balague, G. (2016). Transformational leadership on the athletic field: An international review. *Revista De Psicología Del Deporte, 25*, 319-326. Retrieved from http://www.rpd-online.com
- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research. Journal of Cultural Diversity, 23, 121–127. Retrieved from http://www.tuckerpub.com
- Ammendolia, C., Cote, P., Cancelliere, C., Cassidy, J. D., Hartvigsen, J., Boyle, E. & Amick III, B. (2016). Healthy and productive workers: Using intervention mapping to design a workplace health promotion and wellness program to improve presenteeism. *BMC Public Health*, *16*(1) 1–18. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3843-x
- Anderson, C. A., Leahy, M. J., DelValle, R., Sherman, S., & Tansey, T. N. (2014).
 Methodological application of multiple case study design using modified consensual qualitative research (CQR) analysis to identify best practices and organizational factors in the public rehabilitation program. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, *41*(2), 87-98. http://dx.doi.org/10.3233/JVR-140709
- Anjum, A., & Muazzam, A. (2018). Workplace bullying and turnover intention among university teachers. *Journal of Arts & Social Sciences*, 5, 51–62. Retrieved from http://www.lcwujass.com

- Antonakis, J., & House, R. J. (2014). Instrumental leadership: Measurement and extension of transformational–transactional leadership theory. *Leadership Quarterly*, 25, 746-771. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.04.005
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *The Qualitative Report, 18*(18)1-9.
 Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/sss/QR/index.html
- Ariyabuddhiphongs, V., & Kahn, S. I. (2017). Transformational leadership and turnover intention: The mediating effects of trust and job performance on café employees in Thailand. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, *16*, 215-233. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2016.1202730
- Asencio, H., & Mujkic, E. (2016). Leadership behaviors and trust in leaders: Evidence from the U.S. federal government. *Public Administration Quarterly*, 40, 156-179. Retrieved from http://www.spaef.com/PAQ_PUB/index.html
- Avci, O. (2018). Transformational leadership and teaching assistants' selfefficacies. *Journal of Theoretical Educational Science Dergisi*, *11*, 359–382.
 Retrieved from http://www.aku.edu.tr
- Bake, M. (2019). The importance of leadership and employee retention. *Radiologic Technology*, *90*, 279–281. Retrieved from http://www.asrt.org
- Barratt, M. J., Ferris, J. A., & Lenton, S. (2015). Hidden populations, online purposive sampling, and external validity: Taking off the blindfold. *Field Methods*, 27(1), 3-21. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1525822X14526838

- Bashan, B., & Holsblat, R. (2017). Reflective journals as a research tool: The case of student teachers' development of teamwork. *Cogent Education*, 4(1). http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2017.1374234
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership: Good, better, best. *Organizational Dynamics*, *13*, 26-40.http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0090-26168590028-2
- Bass, B. M., Avolio, B. J., Jung, D. I., & Berson, Y. (2003). Predicting unit performance by assessing transformational and transactional leadership. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88, 207-218. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.2.207
- Bass, B. M., & Riggio, R. E. (2006). *Transformational leadership*: (X ed, Vol. X).Psychology Press. Mahwah, NJ
- Baxter, S., Campbell, S., Sanderson, K., Cazaly, C., Venn, A., Owen, C., & Palmer, A. J. (2015). Development of the workplace health savings calculator: A practical tool to measure economic impact from reduced absenteeism and staff turnover in workplace health promotion. *BMC Research Notes*, 8(1). http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13104-015-1402-7
- Beck, C. W. (2016). Perceptions of thanks in the workplace. Corporate Communications: An International Journal, 21, 333–351. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-07-2014-0048
- Bell, K. (2013). Participants' motivations and co-construction of the qualitative research process. *Qualitative Social Work*, 12, 523-539. http://dx.doi.org/10.11771473325011429020

Berkovich, I. (2018). Will it sink or will it float. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 46, 888–907.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1741143217714253

Besieux, T., Baillien, E., Verbeke, A. L., & Euwema, M. C. (2015). What goes around comes around: The meditation of corporate social responsibility in the relationship between transformational leaders and employee engagement. *Economic and Industrial Democracy, 39*, 249–271. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0143831X15614914

- Bickerton, G. R., & Miner, M. H. (2019). The interrelationships between spiritual resources and work engagement. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 1(1) 1941-1022. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/rel0000253
- Bin, W., Jing Q., Ruili, O., Chuying, H., Bei, X., & Yinan, X. (2016). Transformational leadership and employees' feedback seeking the mediating role of the trust in leader. *Social Behavior & Personality: An International Journal, 44*, 1201-1208. http://dx.doi.org/10.222420164471201
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness of merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research, 26,* 1802-1811. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. Qualitative market research: *An International Journal, 19*, 426-432. http://dx.doi.org/10.11080620160053
- Boon, C., Belschak, F. D., Den Hartog, D. N., & Pijnenburg, M. (2014). Perceived human resource management practices: Their effect on employee absenteeism and

time allocation at work. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, *13*(1), 21–33. http://dx.doi.org/10.10271866-5888000101

- Bouville, G., Dello Russo, S., & Truxillo, D. (2018). The moderating role of age in the job characteristics–absenteeism relationship: A matter of occupational context? *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, *91*(1), 57–83. http://dx.doi.org/10.111112188
- Bowden, C., & Galindo-Gonzalez, S. (2015). Interviewing when you're not face-to-face: The use of email interviews in a phenomenological study. *International Journal* of Doctoral Studies, 10, 79-92. Retrieved from http://www.hijds.org
- Brahim, A. B., Ridic, O., & Jukic, T. (2015). The effect of transactional leadership on employees' performance case study of 5 Algerian banking institutions. Economic Review: *Journal of Economics & Business, 13*, 7-20. Retrieved from http://www.untz.ba
- Braun, V., Clarke, V., & Terry, G. (2014). Thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research in Clinical Health Psychology*, 24, 95-114. Fhttp://dx.doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v9.26152.
- Braun, S., Hernandez Bark, A., Kirchner, A., Stegmann, S., & Van Dick, R. (2019).
 Emails from the boss curse or blessing? Relations between communication channels, leader evaluation, and employees' attitudes. *International Journal of Business Communication*, 56(1), 50–81. http://dx.doi.org /10.1177/2329488415597516

Breevaart, K., & Bakker, A. B. (2018). Daily job demands and employee work engagement: The role of daily transformational leadership behavior. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 23, 338–349. http://dx.doi.org/doi-10.10370000082

Breevaart, K., Bakker, A., Hetland, J., Demerouti, E., Olsen, O. K., & Espevik, R.
(2014). Daily transactional and transformational leadership and daily employee
engagement. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 87,138-157.
http://dx.doi.org/10.111112041

- Brewington, J., & Darko, J. (2020). Collaboration and engagement at the NLN: Cocreating a positive organizational culture. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 41, 138. https://doi-org/10.1097/01.NEP.00000000000648
- Brinkmann, S. (2016). Methodological breaching experiments: Steps toward theorizing the qualitative interview. *Culture & Psychology*, 22, 520-533. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1177135406716650816
- Brown, M., Brown, R. S., & Nandedkar, A. (2019. Transformational leadership theory and exploring the perceptions of diversity management in higher education. *Journal of Higher Education Theory & Practice 19*, 11–21. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.33423/jhetp.v19i7.2527
- Brown, H., Kim, J. S., & Faerman, S. R. (2019). The influence of societal and organizational culture on the use of work-life balance programs: A comparative analysis of the United States and the Republic of Korea. *The Social Science Journal*. http://dx.doi.org/ /10.1016/j.soscij.2019.03.008

Brummelhuis, L. L., Johns, G., Lyons, B. J., & Hoeven, C. L. (2016). Why and when do employees imitate the absenteeism of co-workers? *Organizational Behavior & Human Decision Processes*, 13416-13430. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016201604001

Buch, R., Thompson, G., & Kuvaas, B. (2016). Transactional leader–member exchange relationships and followers' work performance. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies, 23*, 456-466.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1548051816630227

- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2018). *Absences from work of employed full-time wage and salary workers by occupation and industry*. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsaat47.htm
- Burles, M. C. (2017). Negotiating post-research encounters: Reflections on learning of participant deaths following a qualitative study. *Mortality*, 22, 170-180. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1357627520171291605

Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York, NY: Harper and Row Publishers.

Burns, J.M. (2003). Transforming leadership. New York, NY: Grove/Atlantic

Buvik, K., Moan, I. S., & Halkjelsvik, T. (2018). Alcohol-related absence and presenteeism: Beyond productivity loss. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 58, 71–77. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016201805005

Buzeti, J. (2020). Association between field of work, years of service, and sickness absenteeism in public administration. *Organizacija*, 53(1), 53.
http://www.organizacija.fov.uni-mb.si/index.php/organizacija

Cairney, P. & St Denny, E. (2015). Reviews of what is qualitative research and what is

qualitative interviewing. International Journal of Social Research Methodology: Theory and Practice, 18, 117-125. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/136455792014957434

Campbell, J. W. (2018). Efficiency, incentives, and transformational leadership: understanding Collaboration Preferences in the Public Sector. *Public Performance & Management Review, 41*, 277–299. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1080153095762017140333

- Canning, E. A., Murphy, M. C., Emerson, K. T. U., Chatman, J. A., Dweck, C. S., & Kray, L. J. (2020). Cultures of genius at work: Organizational mindsets predict cultural norms, trust, and commitment. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin*, *46*, 626–642. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0146167219872473
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: Interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report, 21*, 811-831.
 Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tgr
- Carter, J. (2020). Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993. Salem Press Encyclopedia
- Castleberry, A. (2014). NVivo 10 software program version 10. QSR International; *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 78(1), 1-2. Retrieved from http://www.ajpe.org/page/contact-ajpe
- Chang, E., & Daly, J. (2016). *Transitions in nursing*: Preparing for professional practice. Chastwood, NSW: Elsevier
- Chen, C.-Y. (2019). Does work engagement mediate the influence of job resourcefulness on job crafting? An examination of frontline hotel employees. *International*

Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 31, 1684–1701. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-05-2018-0365

- Chen, J.-X., Sharma, P., Zhan, W., & Liu, L. (2019). Demystifying the impact of CEO transformational leadership on firm performance: Interactive roles of exploratory innovation and environmental uncertainty. *Journal of Business Research*, 96, 85– 96. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016201810061
- Cleland, J. A. (2017). The qualitative orientation in medical education research. *Korean Journal of Medical Education, 29*, 61-71. http://dx.doi.org/10.39462017.53
- Cote, R. (2017). Vision of effective leadership. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability & Ethics*, *14*, 52–63. Retrieved from www.na-businesspress.com
- Conney, D. (2012). Research approaches related to phenomenology: negotiating a complex landscape. *Nurse Researcher*, 20, 21-27.
- http://dx.doi.org/10.7748201211202219440
- Connelly, L. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, *25*, 435-436. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20204614
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(1), 89-91. http://dx.doi.org/10.11881489-91
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, *10*, 807–815. http://dx.doi.org/10.10162018.03.019

- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2017). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Cornwell, T. B., Howard-Grenville, J., & Hampel, C. E. (2018). The company you keep: How an organization's horizontal partnerships affect employee organizational identification. *The Academy of Management Review*, 43, 772–791. http://dx.doi.org/10.5465/amr.2016.0209
- Clipa, O., & Greciuc, S. M. A. (2018). Relations of style of leadership and achievement motivation for teacher. *Romanian Journal for Multidimensional Education / Revista Romaneasca Pentru Educatie Multidimensionala*, 10, 55–64. http://dx.doi.org/10.1866272
- Cucchiella, F., Gastaldi, M., & Ranieri, L. (2014). Managing absenteeism in the workplace: The case of an Italian multiutility company. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 150, 1157–1166. http://dx.doi.org/10.10162014.09.131
- Damart, S., & Kletz, F. (2016). When the management of nurse absenteeism becomes a cause of absenteeism: a study based on a comparison of two health care facilities. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 24(1), 4-11. http://dx.doi.org/10.111112262
- Silva, L. P., Castro, M. A., Dos-Santos, M.G., & Neto, P.J. (2018). Commitment to work and its relationship with organizational culture mediated by satisfaction. *Revista Brasileira De Gestao De Negocios*, *3*, 401. http://dx.doi.org /10.7819/rbgn.v20i3.3947
- De Clercq, B., Clays, E., Janssens, H., De Bacquer, D., Casini, A., Kittel, F., & Braeckman, L. (2015). Health behaviours as a mechanism in the prospective

relation between workplace reciprocity and absenteeism: A bridge too far? *Plos ONE*, *10*, 1-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.13710141608

- Deery, S., Walsh, J., Zatzick, C. D., & Hayes, A. F. (2017). Exploring the relationship between compressed work hours satisfaction and absenteeism in front-line service work. *European Journal of Work & Organizational Psychology*, *26*(1), 42-52. http://dx.doi.org/10.108013594320161197907
- Dekking, S. A., Van der Graaf, R., & Van Delden, J. J. (2014). Strengths and weaknesses of guideline approaches to safeguard voluntary informed consent of patients within a dependent relationship. *BMC Medicine*, *12*(1).
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1186174170151252
- De Oliveira Rodrigues, A., & Ferreira, M. C. (2015). The impact of transactional and transformational leadership style on organizational citizenship behaviors. *Psico-USF, 20*, 493-504. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/141382712015200311
- Desmidt, S. & George, B. (2016). Do we see eye to eye? The relationship between internal communication and between-group strategic consensus. *Management Communication Quarterly*, 30(1), 84–102. http://dx.doi.org /10.1177/0893318915609406
- Dennis, B. K., (2013). Understanding participant experiences: Reflections of a novice research participant. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 13, (1), 395 -410. http://dx.doi.org/10.11772160940691401300121
- De Stobbeleir, K. E. M., De Clippeleer, I., Caniels, M. C. J., Goedertier, F., Deprez, J., De Vos, A., & Buyens, D. (2018). The inside effects of a strong external

employer brand: how external perceptions can influence organizational absenteeism rates. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *29*, 2106–2136. http://dx.doi.org/10.108009585192.20161239120

- Devonish, D. (2014). Job demands, health, and absenteeism: Does bullying make things worse? *Employee Relations, 36*, 165-181. http://dx.doi.org/10.11080120130011
- Dhaini, S., Zuniga, F., Ausserhofer, D., Simon, M., Kunz, R., De Geest, S., &
 Schwendimann, R. (2016). Absenteeism and presenteeism among care workers in
 Swiss nursing homes and their association with psychosocial work environment:
 A multi-site cross-sectional study. *Gerontology*, 62, 386–395.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1159000442088
- Dick, B., & Greenwood, D. J. (2015). Theory and method: Why action research does not separate them. Action Research, 13, 194-197. http://dx.doi.org/10.117714767503155573594
- Dierendonck, D., Stam, D., Boersma, P., Windt, N., & Alkema, J. (2014). Same
 Difference? Exploring the differential mechanisms linking servant leadership
 And transformational leadership and follower outcomes. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25. 544-562. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016201311014

Di Stefano, G., Scrima, F., & Parry, E. (2019). The effect of organizational culture on deviant behaviors in the workplace. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *30*, 2482–2503. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1080/09585192.2017.1326393

- Dixon, D. P., Wales, A. M., Pennington, J. R., & Calega, S. (2019). Social change model of leadership development: A 4-Year Program. *Management Teaching Review*, 4, 138–147. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/2379298118810845
- Doucet, O., Fredette, M., Simard, G., & Tremblay, M. (2015). Leader profiles and their effectiveness on employees' outcomes. *Human Performance, 28*, 244-264. http://dx.doi.org/10.10800895928520151021039
- Duclay, E., Hardouin, J., Sebille, V., Anthoine, E., & Moret, L. (2015). Exploring the impact of staff absenteeism on patient satisfaction using routine databases in a university hospital. *Journal of Nursing Management, 23*, 833-841.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.111112219
- Dul, J., & Hak, T. (2008). Case Study Methodology in Business Research. Burlington,MA: Elsevier
- Duncombe, D. C. (2019). Factors influencing voluntary absenteeism among healthcare workers in the Bahamas. *Nursing Economic*, 37, 92–109. Retrieved from http://www.ajj.com/services/pblshng/nej/default.htm
- Dussault, M., & Frenette, E. (2015). Supervisors' transformational leadership and bullying in the workplace. *Psychological Reports*, 117, 724-733. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.246601PR0117302
- Eisenberg, J., Post, C., & DiTomaso, N. (2019). Team dispersion and performance: The role of team communication and transformational leadership. *Small Group Research*, 50, 348–380. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1046496419827376

Elo, S, Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).

Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *Sage Open, 4*(1), http://dx.doi.org/10. 2158244014522633

- Erhardt, N., Martin-Rios, C., & Heckscher, C. (2016). Am I doing the right thing?
 Unpacking workplace rituals as mechanisms for strong organizational
 culture. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 59, 31–41.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.08.006
- Esaki, N. (2020). Trauma-responsive organizational cultures: How safe and supported do employees feel? *Human Service Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance*, 44(1), 1–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/23303131.2019.1699218
- Etikan, I. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. Retrieved from http://www.researchgate.net/publication/304339244
- Fachrunnisa, O., Adhiatma, A., & Mutamimah. (2014). the role of work-place spirituality and employee and employee engagement to enhance job satisfaction and performance. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 7(1), 15-35. Retrieved from http://www.ijoi-online.org/
- Farina, G. (2014). Some reflections on the phenomenological method. *Dialogues in Philosophy, Mental and Neurosciences*, 7, 50-62. Retrieved from http://www.academia.edu/10251966
- Fevang, E., Markussen, S., & Roed, K. (2014). The sick pay trap. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 32(2), 305-336. Retrieved from http://www.journals.uchicago.edu/
- Ferreras Méndez, J. L., Sanz Valle, R., & Alegre, J. (2017). Transformative leadership and absorptive capacity: an analysis of organizational catalysts for this

relationship. *Technology Analysis and Strategic Management, 30,* 211–226. http://dx.doi.org/10.108009537325

- FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 11, 211–217. http://dx.doi.org/10.10162018.11.014
- Fleet, D., Burton, A., Reeves, A., & DasGupta, M. P. (2016). A case for taking the dual role of counsellor-researcher in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 13, 328-346. http://dx.doi.org/10.10801478088720161205694

Foucreault, A., Ollier-Malaterre, A., & Menard, J. (2018). Organizational culture and work-life integration: A barrier to employees' respite? *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29, 2378–2398. http://dx.doi.org /10.1080/09585192.2016.1262890

- Francis, U. C. (2017). Transformational and transactional leadership styles among leaders of administrative ministries in Lagos, Nigeria. *IFE Psychologia*, 25, 151-164.
 Retrieved from www.ifepsychologia.org
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91,184-194. http://dx.doi.org/10.10021556-6676201300085

French, C., & Stavropoulou, C. (2016). Specialist nurses' perceptions of inviting patients to participate in clinical research studies: a qualitative descriptive study of barriers and facilitators. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *16*(1) 161-12. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186x1287401602045

- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report, 20*, 408-1416. Retrieved from http://www.tqr.nova.edu/
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19–32. http://dx.doi.org/10.559020181002
- Gajdzik, B., Zwolinska, D., & Szymazal, J. (2015). Behavioral determinants of work accidents and absenteeism in a metallurgical enterprise. Metalurgija, *54*, 741-744.
 Retrieved from http://www.public.carnet.hr/metalurg/Metalurgija/
 Index_ENG.htm
- Galdikiene, N., Asikainen, P., Rostila, I., Green, P., Balciunas, S., Helminen, M., &
 Suominen, T. (2019). The association of primary healthcare nurses' perceived
 stress with organizational culture and climate in a team context. *Central European Journal of Nursing & Midwifery*, 10, 1092–1101. http://dx.doi.org
 /10.15452/CEJNM.2019.10.0019
- Garanina, Z. G., Andronova, N. V., Lashmaykina, L. I., Maltseva, O. E., & Polyakov, O. E., (2017). The structural model of future employees' personal and professional self-development. *Integracia Obrazovania 4*, 596. http://dx.doi.org/10.15507/1991-
- Gathungu, E., Iravo, M., & Namunsonge, G.S. (2015). Transformative leadership and employee's commitment: Empirical review. *IOSR Journal of Humanities*, 20, 1-7. http://dx.doi.org/10.9790083720720107

- Gentles, S. J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(11), 1772-1789. Retrieved from http://www-ncbi-nlm-nihgov.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/
- Gerring, J. (2017). Qualitative methods. *Annual Review of Political Science*, 20(1), 15-36. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-092415-024158
- Geydar, D., Arumugam, T., Kuppusamy, M., & Singh, J. (2020). An empirical research on factors affecting employee absenteeism in an airline industry: A relook on job stress, work-life balance and job satisfaction as predictors. *International Journal* of Psychosocial Rehabilitation, 24, 804–832. https://dx.doi.org /10.37200/IJPR/V24I2/PR200393
- Giddens, J. (2018). Transformational leadership: What every nursing dean should know. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 34, 117–121. http://dx.doi.org/10.10162017.10.004
- Giudici, M., & Filimonau, V. (2019). Exploring the linkages between managerial leadership, communication and teamwork in successful event delivery. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 32. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2019.100558
- Goertzen, M. J. (2017). Introduction to Quantitative Research and Data. *Library Technology Reports, 53*, 12-18. Retrieved from http://www.ala.org
- Gori, G. F., Lattarulo, P., & Mariani, M. (2017). Understanding the procurement performance of local governments: A duration analysis of public works. *Environment and Planning C-Politics and Space*, *35*, 809–827.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/026377416680109

- Grawitch, M. J., Waldrop, J. S., Erb, K. R., Werth, P. M., & Guarino, S. N. (2017).
 Productivity loss due to mental- and physical-health decrements: Distinctions in research and practice. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 69, 112–129. http://dx.doi.org/10.10370000089
- Griffith, D. A., Morris, E. S., & Thakar, V. (2016). Spatial autocorrelation and qualitative sampling: The case of snowball type sampling designs. *Annals of the American Association of Geographers, 106*, 773-787.

http://dx.doi.org/10.10802469445220161164580

- Guercini, S. (2014). New qualitative research methodologies in management. Management Decision, 52, 662-674. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/MD-11-2013-0592
- Guillaume, O., & Austin, A. (2016). Understanding organizational culture to transform a workplace behavior: Evidence from a liberal arts University. *Scholedge International Journal of Management & Development*, *3*, 89–96. http://dx.doi.org
 /10.19085/journal.sijmd030401
- Gupta, V., Agarwal, U. A., & Khatri, N. (2016). The relationships between perceived organizational support, affective commitment, psychological contract breach, organizational citizenship behavior and work engagement. *Journal of Advanced Nursing (John Wiley & Sons, Inc.)*, 72, 2806–2817. http://dx.doi.org /10.1111/jan.13043
- Gupta, M., Kumar, V., & Singh, M. (2014). Creating satisfied employees through workplace spirituality: A study of the private insurance sector in Punjab (India).

Journal of Business Ethics, 122(1), 79-88. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1756-5.

Gunarso, S. I. T., & Moeins., A. (2019). Segmental analysis of employees' performance reviewed from transformational leadership and job satisfaction (empirical study on study program staff at health polytechnic, Tanjung Karang Lampung). *International Review of Management and Marketing*, *1*, 104. http://dx.doi.org/10.32479irmm.7448

- Gustafson, P., Hertting, N., (2016). Understanding participatory governance: An analysis participates' motives for participation. *American Review of Public Administration*, *1*, 1-17. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0275074015626298
- Halbesleben, J. R., Whitman, M. V., & Crawford, W. S. (2014). A dialectical theory of the decision to go to work: Bringing together absenteeism and presenteeism. *Human Resource Management Review, 24*, 177-192.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.10162013.09.00.

Hamstra, M., Van Yperen, N., Wisse, B., & Sassenberg, K. (2014). Transformational and transactional leadership and followers' achievement goals. *Journal of Business &*

Psychology, 29, 413-425. http://dx.doi.org/10.10071086901393229

- Hagen, T., & Bogaerts, S. (2014). Work pressure and sickness absenteeism among judges. Psychiatry, *Psychology & Law*, 21(1), 92-111. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080132187192013790003
- Hager, D., Chmielewski, E., Porter, A. L., Brzozowski, S., Rough, S. S., & Trapskin, P. J. (2017). Interprofessional development and implementation of a pharmacist

professional advancement and recognition program. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 74, 1895–1902. http://dx.doi.org/10.2146/ajhp160792

- Haque, A., Fernando, M., & Caputi, P. (2019). The relationship between responsible leadership and organizational commitment and the mediating effect of employee turnover intentions: An empirical study with Australian employees. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *156*, 759-774. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3575-6
- Harden, S. M., You, W., Almeida, F. A., Hill, J. L., Linnan, L. A., Allen, K. C., & Estabrooks, P. A. (2015). Does successful weight loss in an internet-based worksite weight loss program improve employee presenteeism and absenteeism? *Health Education & Behavior*, *42*, 769–774. http://dx.doi.org/10.11771090198115578751
- Hassan, S., Wright, B. E., & Yukl, G. (2014). Does ethical leadership matter in government? Effects on organizational commitment, absenteeism, and willingness to report ethical problems. *Public Administration Review*, *74*, 333-343. http://dx.doi.org/10.111112216
- Hasselt, M., Keyes, V., Bray, J., & Miller, T. (2015). Prescription drug abuse and workplace absenteeism: Evidence from the 2008–2012 national survey on drug use and health. *Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health, 30*, 379-392. http://dx.doi.org/10.10801555524020151047499
- Hartnell, C. A., Ou, A. Y., Kinicki, A. J., Choi, D., & Karam, E. P. (2019). A metaanalytic test of organizational culture's association with elements of an organization's system and its relative predictive validity on organizational

outcomes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *104*, 832–850. http://dx.doi.org /10.1037/apl0000380.supp

- Hayles, E., Harvey, D., Plummer, D., & Jones, A. (2015). Perspective: Focusing on families' experiences of health care: Choosing a qualitative research design. *Journal on Developmental Disabilities, 21*, 110-118. Retrieved from http://www.oadd.org
- Helmich, E., Boerebach, B. M., Arah, O. A., & Lingard, L. (2015). Beyond limitations: Improving how we handle uncertainty in health professions education research. *Medical Teacher*, *37*, 1043-1050. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109014215920151073239
- Hildenbrand, K., Sacramento, C. A., & Binnewies, C. (2018). Transformational leadership and burnout: The role of thriving and followers' openness to experience. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *23*(1), 31–43. http://dx.doi.org/10.10370000051
- Hoeven, C. L., Miller, V. D., Peper, B., & Den Dulk, L. (2016). The work must go on: The role of employee and managerial communication in the use of work-life policies. *Management Communication Quarterly*, *31*, 194–229. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1177/0893318916684980

Hoque, Z., Covaleski, M. A., & Gooneratne, T. N. (2013). Theoretical triangulation and pluralism in research methods in organizational and accounting research. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 26,* 1170-1198.
http://dx.doi.org/10.1108201201024

Hoyland, S., Hollund, J. G., & Olsen, O. E. (2015). Gaining access to a research site and participants in medical and nursing research: A synthesis of accounts. *Medical Education, 49,* 224-232. http://dx.doi.org/10.111112622

Huang, L. C., Hung, C. Y. & Hsu. P. (2020). Relations among education & training, job involvement, and organizational commitment of volunteers in government departments. *Revista De Cercetare Si Interventie Sociala*, 68, 22–31. http://dx.doi.org/10.33788/rcis.68.2

- Hyatt, E., & Coslor, E. (2018). Compressed lives: how flexible are employer-imposed compressed work schedules? *Personnel Review*, 47, 278-293. http://dx.doi.org/10.11080820160189
- Iacob, S. E., & Badina, R. M. L. (2017). Management and managerial communication. *Valahian Journal of Economic Studies*, 8, 91–100. Retrieved from http://www.valahia.ro/
- Ingham-Broomfield, R. (2015). A nurses' guide to qualitative research. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *32*, 34-40. Retrieved from http://www.ajan.com.
- Jabeen, Fauzia & Behery, Mohamed & Elanain, Hossam. (2015). Examining the relationship between the psychological contract and organizational commitment:
 The mediating effect of transactional leadership in the UAE context. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis. 23.* 102-122. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-10-2014-0812.
- Jansen, W. S., Otten, S., & Van Der Zee, K. I. (2017). Being different at work: How gender dissimilarity relates to social inclusion and absenteeism. *Group Processes*

& Intergroup Relations, 20, 879-893.

http://dx.doi.org/10.11771368430215625783

- Jinnelt, K., Newman, L., & Schwatka (2017). Chronic conditions workplace, safety and job demands contribute to absenteeism and job performance. *Health Affairs*, 36(2). 237-244. http://dx.doi.org/10.13772016.1151
- Johns, G., & Al Hajj, R. (2016). Frequency versus time lost measures of absenteeism: Is the voluntariness distinction an urban legend? *Journal of Organizational Behavior, 37*, 456-479. http://dx.doi.org/10.10022055
- Joslin, R., & Müller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34, 1043-1056. http://dx.doi.org/10.10162016.05.005
- Jourdain, G., & Chenevert, D. (2015). The moderating influence of perceived organizational values on the burnout-absenteeism relationship. *Journal of Business & Psychology, 30*(1), 177-191.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s1086901493469.

- Kallio, H., Pietila, A. M., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: developing a framework for a qualitative semi□structured interview guide. *Journal of advanced nursing*, *72*, 2954-2965. http://dx.doi.org/10.111113031
- Kampkotter, P., & Marggraf, K. (2015). Do employees reciprocate to intra-firm trainings? An analysis of absenteeism and turnover rates. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 26, 2888-2907.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/0958519220151005655

- Kang, M. & Sung, M. (2017). How symmetrical employee communication leads to employee engagement and positive employee communication behaviors: The mediation of employee-organization relationships. *Journal of Communication Management*, 21(1), 82–102. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JCOM-04-2016-0026
- Kark, R., Van Dijk, D., & Vashdi, D. R. (2018). Motivated or demotivated to be creative: The role of self-regulatory focus in transformational and transactional Leadership processes. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 67, 186–224. http://dx.doi.org/10.11111212
- Karageorge, E. (2016). My coworkers are making me sick. *Monthly Labor Review*, *11*, 1-2. Retrieved from http://www.stats.bls.gov/opub/mlr/mlrhome.htm
- Kelly Dutton. (2018). Professional development: investigating the relationships between employee motives, learning opportunities, and activities. *Development and Learning in Organizations: An International Journal*, 32, 32–35. http://dx.doi.org /10.1108/DLO-09-2018-127
- Kelly, S., & MacDonald, P. (2019). A look at leadership styles and workplace solidarity communication. *International Journal of Business Communication*, 56, 432–448. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/2329488416664176

Khalique, M., Arif, I., Siddiqui, M., & Kazmi, S. W. (2018). Impact of workplace bullying on job performance, Intention to leave, OCB and stress. *Pakistan Journal* of Psychological Research, 33(1), 55–74. Retrieved from http://www.pjprnip.edu.pk/index.html

- Kihn, L. & Ihantola, E. (2015). Approaches to validation and evaluation in qualitative studies of management accounting. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management, 12,* 230-255. http://dx.doi.org/10.11090320130012
- Kim, J., & Philips, P. (2014). Remuneration and absenteeism on a large construction site. Construction Management & Economics, 32, 983-999. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/014461932014944550
- Kim, Y. (2018). Enhancing employee communication behaviors for sense-making and sense-giving in crisis situations. *Journal of Communication Management*, *22*, 451–475. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JCOM-03-2018-0025

Kocakulah, M. C., Kelley, A. G., Mitchell, K. M., & Ruggieri, M. P. (2016).
Absenteeism problems and costs: causes, effects and cures. *The International Business & Economics Research Journal*, *15*, 89
http://dx.doi.org/10.1903015i39673

- Krausert, A. (2017). HR differentiation between professional and managerial employees:
 Broadening and integrating theoretical perspectives. *Human Resource Management Review*, 27, 442–457. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016201611002
- Khan, I., & Nawaz, A. (2016). The leadership styles and the employee's performance: A review. Gomal University Journal of Research, 32, 144–150. Retrieved from www.gu.edu.pk/GURJ/Resaerch_Journal.html
- Khankeh, H., Ranjbar, M., Khorasani' Zavareh, D., Zargham' Boroujeni, A., &
 Johansson, E. (2015). Challenges in conducting qualitative research in health: A
 conceptual paper. *Iranian Journal of Nursing & Midwifery Research, 20*, 635-

641. http://dx.doi.org/10.410317359066170010

- Khattak, S. R., Batool, S., & Haider, M. (2017). Relationship of leadership styles and employee creativity: A mediating role of creative self-efficacy and moderating role of organizational climate. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce & Social Sciences*, *11*, 698-719. Retrieved from http://www.jespk.net
- Kocakulah, M. C., Kelley, A. G., Mitchell, K. M., & Ruggieri, M. P. (2016).
 Absenteeism problems and costs: Causes, effects and cures. *The International Business & Economics Research Journal (Online)*, *15*, 89-96. Retrieved from http://www.cluteinstitute.com/journals/international-business-ecgonomics-research-journal-iber/
- Korstjens, I. & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice, 24*(1),120-124 120. http://dx.doi.org/10.10801381478820171375092
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 2: Context, research questions and designs. *European Journal of General Practice, 23*(1), 274–279. http://dx.doi.org/10.10801381478820171375090
- Kruth, J. G. (2015). Five qualitative research approaches and their applications in parapsychology 1. *The Journal of Parapsychology*, 79, 219-233. Retrieved from http://www.rhine.org/what-we-do/journal-of-parapsychology.html
- Kumar, N. K. (2013). Informed consent: Past and present. *Perspectives in Clinical Research, 4*(1), 21-25. http://dx.doi.org/10.410322293485106372

Kunnantt, J. T. (2016). 3D leadership strategy linked leadership framework for managing

teams. *Economics, management & financial markets, 11*, 30-55. Retrieved from http://www.addletonacademicpublishers.com

- Kuonath, A., Specht, J., Kuhnel, J., Pachler, D., & Frey, D. (2017). Keeping up dayspecific effects of transformational leadership: the role of followers' emotion regulation. *European Journal of Work & Organizational Psychology*, 26, 828-843. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080135943220171379993
- Kwon, K., & Park, J. (2019). The life cycle of employee engagement theory in HRD research. Advances in Developing Human Resources, 21, 352–370. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1523422319851443
- Lambert, E. G., Griffin, M. L., Hogan, N. L., & Kelley, T. (2015). The ties that bind:
 Organizational commitment and its effect on correctional orientation,
 absenteeism, and turnover intent. *Prison Journal*, 95, 135-156.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.11770032885514563293.
- Law, C. C. H. (2016). Using bonus and awards for motivating project employees. *Human Resource Management International Digest*, 24, 4. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/HRMID-05-2016-0073
- Lechmann, D. J., & Schnabel, C. (2014). Absence from work of the self-employed: A comparison with paid employees. *Kyklos, 67*, 368-390. http://dx.doi.org/10.111112059
- Le, B. P., Lei, H., Phouvong, S., Than, T. S., Nguyen, T. M. A., & Gong, J. (2018). Selfefficacy and optimism mediate the relationship between transformational leadership and knowledge sharing. *Social Behavior and Personality: An*

International Journal, 46, 1833–1846. http://dx.doi.org/10.22247242

- Lee, B. Y., Wang, J., & Weststar, J. (2015). Work hour congruence: the effect on job satisfaction and absenteeism. *International Journal of Human Resource Management, 26*, 657-675. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080095851922014922601
- Lee, E., & Jang, I. (2020). Nurses' fatigue, job stress, organizational culture, and turnover intention: A culture–work–health model. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 42, 108–116. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0193945919839189
- Leon, F. R., & Morales, O. (2018). Effects of people-oriented leadership and subordinate employability on call center withdrawal behaviors. *Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 34(1), 56–62. http://dx.doi.org/10.509320187
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. Journal of Family Medicine & Primary Care, 4, 324-327. http://dx.doi.org/10.410322494863161306
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among the 5 approaches. *Health Promotion Practice, 2015*. Retrieved from http://www.journals.sagepub.om

Llorente-Alonso, M., & Topa, G. (2019). Individual crafting, collaborative crafting, and job satisfaction: The mediator role of engagement. *Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, *35*, 217–226. https:// //dx.doi.org/10.5093/jwop2019a23

Lin, C., Huang, P., Chen, S., & Huang, L. (2017). Pseudo-transformational leadership is

in the eyes of the subordinates. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *141*, 179-190. http://dx.doi.org/10.10071055101527395

- Liu, Y., Wang, W., & Chen, D. (2019). Linking ambidextrous organizational culture to innovative behavior: A moderated mediation model of psychological empowerment and transformational leadership. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*. https://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02192
- Llorente-Alonso, M., & Topa, G. (2019). Individual crafting, collaborative crafting, and job satisfaction: The mediator role of engagement. *Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, *35*, 217–226. https://dx.doi.org/10.5093201923
- Lock, I., & Seele, P. (2015). Quantitative content analysis as a method for business ethics research. Business Ethics: *A European Review*, 24, S24-S40. http://dx.doi.org/10.111112095
- Lopez-Martin, E., & Topa, G. (2019). Organizational culture and job demands and resources: Their impact on employees' well-being in a multivariate multilevel model. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16. https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16173006
- Losina, E., Yang, H. Y., Deshpande, B. R., Katz, J. N., & Collins, J. E. (2017). Physical activity and unplanned illness-related work absenteeism: Data from an employee wellness program. *Plos ONE*, *12*, 1-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.13710176872
- Lu Chen, Hannon PA, Laing SS, (2015). Perceived workplace health support is associated with employee productivity. *American Journal of Health Promotion*. 2015; 29:139-146. http://dx.doi.org/10.4278131216-QUAN-645

Ma, X., & Jiang, W. (2018).Transformational leadership, transactional leadership, and employee creativity in entrepreneurial firms. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 54, 302–324. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0021886318764346

Magee, C., Gordon, R., Robinson, L., Caputi, P., & Oades, L. (2017). Workplace bullying and absenteeism: The mediating roles of poor health and work engagement. *Human Resource Management Journal*, *27*, 319-334. http://dx.doi.org/10.11111748858312156

Majeed, N., Jamshed, S., Nazri, M., & Mustamil, N. M. (2019). Walk the talk: Bringing spirituality to workplace through transformational leadership and emotional intelligence in higher education institutions. *Journal Pengurusan*, 56, 1–19.
Retrieved from http://www.ejournals.ukm.my/pengurusan

Malagon-Maldonado, G. (2014). Qualitative research in health design. *Health Environments Research & Design Journal (HERD) (Vendome Group LLC), 7*,
120-134. Retrieved from http://www.herdjournal.com/ME2/Default.asp

- Malik, W., Muquaddas, J., Hassan, S.T. (2017). Influence of transformative leadership components on job satisfaction and organizational commitment. *Pakistan Journal* of Commerce and Social Sciences, 11.146-165 http://dx.doi.org/10.59232012000132
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative health research*, 26, 1753–1760. https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1049732315617444

Maseh, E. (2015). Managing court records in Kenya. African Journal of Library,

Archives & Information Science, 25(1), 77-87. Retrieved from

http://www.ajol.info/journals/ajlais

- Mahy, B., Rycx, F., & Volral, M. (2016). Are workers less absent when wage dispersion is small? *International Journal of Manpower*, 37, 197-209. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108012015
- Maria, E. (2019). The influence of organizational culture, compensation and interpersonal communication in employee performance through work motivation as mediation. *International Review of Management and Marketing*, *5*, 133. Retrieved from www.econjournals.com/index.php/irmm
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Martínez-Corcoles, M., & Stephanou, K. (2017). Linking active transactional leadership and safety performance in military operations. *Safety Science*, 96, 93-101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016201703013
- Martin, J. (2016). Perceptions of transformational leadership in academic libraries. *Journal of Library Administration*, 56, 266-284. http://dx.doi.org/10.10800193082620151105069
- Martinussen, M., Kaiser, S., Adolfsen, F., Patras, J., & Richardsen, A. M. (2017).
 Reorganizations of healthcare services for children and families: Improving collaboration, service quality, and worker well-being. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, *31*, 487–496. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2017.1316249

Matthews, J. Stanley, T. & Davidson, P. (2018). Human factors and project challenges

influencing employee engagement in a project-based organization (PBO). International Journal of Managing Projects in Business 11: 873–85. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJMPB-04-2017-0043

- Maryono, P. (2020). Analysis of organizational culture towards working performance through quality of work life and religiosity. *Innovative Issues and Approaches in Social Sciences*, 13(1). http://dx.doi.org/10.12959/issn.1855-0541.IIASS-2020no1-art7
- Mayer, I. (2015). Qualitative research with a focus on qualitative data analysis. International Journal of Sales, Retailing & Marketing, 4, 53-67. Retrieved from http://www.ijsrm.com
- Mazzei, A., Butera, A., & Quaratino, L. (2019). Employee communication for engaging workplaces. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 40, 23–32. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JBS-03-2019-0053
- McGregor, A., Sharma, R., Magee, C., Caputi, P., & Iverson, D. (2018). Explaining variations in the findings of presenteeism research: A meta-analytic investigation into the moderating effects of construct operationalization's and chronic health. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 23, 584–601. http://dx.doi.org/10.10370000099.
- McGrandle, J., & Ohemeng, F. K. (2017). The conundrum of absenteeism in the Canadian public service: A wicked problem perspective. *Canadian Public Administration, 60*, 215-240. http://dx.doi.org/10.111112213

Mendez, J. L., Valle, R. S., Alegre, J. (2017). Transformational leadership and absorptive

capacity: an analysis of the organizational catalysts for this relationship. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, 30*, 211-226. http://dx.doi.org/10.10800953732520171299859

Mesko, M., Erenda, I., Videmsek, M., Karpljuk, D., Stihec, J., & Roblek, V. (2013).
Relationship between stress coping strategies and absenteeism among middlelevel managers: *Journal of Contemporary Management Issues*, *18*(1), 45-57.
Retrieved from http://www.efst.hr/management

Miracle, V. A. (2016). The Belmont Report. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing, 35*, 223-228. http://dx.doi.org/10.109700000000000186

Miraglia, M., & Johns, G. (2016). Going to work ill: A meta-analysis of the correlates of presenteeism and a dual-path model. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 21, 261–283. https://doi-10.10370000015

- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1212–1222. http://dx.doi.org/10.11771049732315588501
- Mouter, N., Annema, J. A., & van Wee, B. (2015). Managing the insolvable limitations of cost-benefit analysis: Results of an interview-based study. *Transportation*, 42, 277-302. http://dx.doi.org/10.100711116-01495390.
- Mouritsen, M. (2013). Is your organization managing or mangling its technology assets? *Strategic Finance*, *95*(1), 35-41. Retrieved from www.imanet.org
- Muchiri, M. K., McMurray, A. J., Nkhoma, M., & Pham, H. C. (2019). How transformational and empowering leader behaviors enhance workplace safety: A

review and research agenda. *Journal of Developing Areas*, *53*(1), 257–265. http://dx.doi.org/10.135320190015

- Mukhopadhyay, S., & Gupta, R. K. (2014). Survey of qualitative research methodology in strategy research and implication for Indian researchers. *Vision (09722629), 18*, 109-123. http://dx.doi.org/10.11770972262914528437
- Nancy, C., Denise, B.-L., Alba, D., Jennifer, B., & Alan J., N. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 545. http://dx.doi.org/10.118814545547
- Nelson, C., Shaw, W., & Robertson, M. (2016). Supervisors and presenteeism: How do supervisors accommodate and support skilled workers with chronic health Concerns? *Employee Responsibilities & Rights Journal*, 28, 209-223. http://dx.doi.org/10.10071067201592754
- Negrini, A., Perron, J., & Corbiere, M. (2014). The predictors of absenteeism due to psychological disability: A longitudinal study in the education sector. *Work*, 48, 175-184. http://dx.doi.org/10.3233131610
- Nguyen, H., Groth, M., & Johnson, A. (2016). When the going gets tough, the tough keep working: Impact of emotional labor on absenteeism. *Journal of Management*, 42, 615-643. http://dx.doi.org/10.11770149206313490026
- Nielsen, K. & Daniels, K. (2016). Sickness, absenteeism, presenteeism and transformational leadership. *University of East Anglia*. Retrieved from http://www.uea.ac.uk

- Niniek, A. & Lantara, F. (2019). The effect of the organizational communication climate and work enthusiasm on employee performance. *Management Science Letters*, 8, 1243. http://dx.doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.4.017
- Nkwake, A. M., & Morrow, N. (2016). Clarifying concepts and categories of assumptions for use in evaluation. *Evaluation & Program Planning*, 59, 5997-101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016201605014
- Noble, H. & Smith, J. (2015). Issues in validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 18(2). 34-35. Retrieved from http://www.eprints.hud.ca.uk
- Norlund, S., Reuterwall, C., Hoog, J., Janlert, U., & Jarvholm, L. S. (2015). Work situation and self-perceived economic situation as predictors of change in burnout a prospective general population-based cohort study. *BMC Public Health*, *15*(1), 1–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186128890151681
- Notelaers, G., Van der Heijden, B., Hoel, H., & Einarsen, S. (2019). Measuring bullying at work with the short-negative acts questionnaire: identification of targets and criterion validity. *Work & Stress*, *33*(1), 58–75. http://dx.doi.org.10.10800267837320181457736
- Nunes, A. P., Richmond, M. K., Pampel, F. C., & Wood, R. C. (2018). The effect of employee assistance services on reductions in employee absenteeism. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 33, 699–709. http://dx.doi.org.10.10071086901795185
- O'Connor, E. P., & Crowley-Henry, M. (2019). Exploring the relationship between exclusive talent management, perceived organizational justice and employee

engagement: Bridging the literature. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *156*, 903–917. http://dx.doi.org.10.1007/s10551-017-3543-1

- O'Keeffe, J. Buytaert, W., Mijic, A., Brozovic, N., & Sinha, R. (2016). The use of semistructured interviews for the characterization of farmer irrigation practices. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 20, 1911-1924. http://dx.doi.org/10.51942019112016
- Oksuz, E., Demiralp, M., Mersin, S., Tuzer, H., Aksu, M., & Sarıkoc, G. (2019).
 Resilience in nurses in terms of perceived social support, job satisfaction and certain variables. *Journal of Nursing Management*, *27*, 423–432.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.111112703
- Olejarski, A. M., Potter, M., & Morrison, R. L. (2019). Organizational learning in the public sector: Culture, politics, and performance. *Public Integrity*, 21(1), 69–85. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10999922.2018.1445411
- Oliveira, M., Bitencourt, C. C., Zanardo dos Santos, A. C. M., & Teixeira, E. K. (2016).
 Thematic content analysis: Is there a difference between the support provided by the Maxqda® and Nvivo® Software Packages? *Brazilian Journal of Management /Revista de Administracao Da UFSM*, 9(1), 72–82.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.59021983465911213
- Ortlipp, M. (2008). Keeping and using reflective journals in the qualitative research process. *The Qualitative Report, 13*(4). 695-705. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqq/vol13

Osborne, S., & Hammoud, M. S. (2017). Effective employee engagement in the workplace. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology* 16(1) 50-67. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.5590/IJAMT.2017.16.1.04

OSHA (2018). Job Demands. Retrieved from www.oshwiki.edu/wiki/jobdemands

- Olson, J. D., McAllister, C., Grinnell, L. D., Gehrke Walters, K., & Appunn, F. (2016) Applying constant comparative method with multiple investigators and intercoder reliability. *The Qualitative Report, 21*(1), 26–42. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Queiroz-Lima, M. E., & Serranheirab, F. (2016). Absenteeism and presenteeism costs from occupational accidents with WRMSDs in a Portuguese hospital. *Dyna*, 83, 27-30. http://dx.doi.org/10.154468319656605
- Palinkas, L., Horwitz, S., Green, C., Wisdom, J., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015).
 Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration & Policy in Mental Health & Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. http://dx.doi.org/10.10071048801
- Paull, M., & Girardi, A. (2017). Mixed methods research in investigations of volunteering. *Third Sector Review*, 23, 183-207. Retrieved from http://www.anztsr.org.au/index.htm

Pavritha, S., Barani, G., Lingaraja, K. (2017). Absenteeism in public sector
 Organizations. An overview of dimensions, causes and remedial strategies.
 International Research Journal of Engineering and Technology (IRJET),

4. Retrieved from http://www.irjet.com

- Peachey, J. W., Zhou, Y., Damon, Z. J., & Burton, L. J. (2015). Forty years of leadership research in sport management: A review, synthesis, and conceptual framework. *Journal of Sport Management*, 29, 570-587. http://dx.doi.org/10.112320140126
- Peretz, H., Levi, A., & Fried, Y. (2015). Organizational diversity programs across cultures: effects on absenteeism, turnover, performance and innovation. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 26,
- 875-903. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080095851922014991344
- Perreault, D., Baker, A., Cohen, L., & Blanchard, C. (2020). The influence of social climate on transformational leadership potential in young adults. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science /Revue Canadienne Des Sciences Du Comportement*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/cbs0000182
- Poghosyan, L., & Bernhardt, J. (2018).Transformational leadership to promote nurse practitioner practice in primary care. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 26, 1066– 1073. http://dx.doi.org/10.111112636
- Pradhan, S., Jena, L. K., & Bhattacharyya, P. (2018). Transformational leadership and contextual performance. *International Journal of Productivity & Performance Management*, 67, 445-462. http://dx.doi.org/10.11080820160186
- Prasad, B., & Junni, P. (2016). CEO transformational and transactional leadership an organizational innovation. *Management Decision*, 54, 1542-1568. http://dx.doi.org/10.11081120140651

Raeymaeckers, P. (2016). Should I stay or should I Go? A qualitative analysis of

legitimacy in a shared participant-governed network. Human Service Organizations: *Management, Leadership & Governance, 40*, 267-280. http://dx.doi.org/10.10802330313120151117553

- Reinecke, J., Arnold, D. G., & Palazzo, G. (2016). Qualitative methods in business ethics, corporate responsibility, and sustainability research. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, *26*, xiii-xxii. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017201667
- Reybold, L. E., Lammert, J. D., & Stribling, S. M. (2013). Participant selection as a conscious research method: thinking forward and the deliberation of emergent Findings. *Qualitative Research*, *13*, 699-716. http://dx.doi.org/10.11772F1468794112465634
- Roberts, K., Dowell, A., & Jing-Bao, B. (2019). Attempting rigor and replicability in thematic analysis of qualitative research data; a case study of codebook development. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, (1), 1. https:// dx.doi.org doi-10.118628740190707
- Robertson, J. L. & Jennifer. R, (2018). The nature, measurement, and nomological Network of environmentally specific transformational leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 151, 961–975. http://dx.doi.org/10.10071055101735694
- Robinson, O. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Research in Psychology*, 11(1), 25-41. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080147808872013801543

- Rodriguez, A., & Brown, A. (2016). Conceptualizing leadership psychosis: The Department of Veteran Affairs scandal. *International Journal of Public Leadership*, 12(1), 14–31. http://dx.doi.org/10.11081020150025
- Ross, C., Rogers, C., & Duff, D. (2016). Critical ethnography: An under-used research methodology in neuroscience nursing. *Canadian Journal of Neuroscience Nursing*, 38(1), 4–6. Retrieved from http://www.cann.ca.com
- Ritzel, C., Kohler, A., & Mann, S. (2017). The impact of social media and collaboration on Gen Y employees' engagement. *International Journal of Development Issues*, 16, 289. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.11080420170041
- Saad, G. B, & Abbas, M. (2018). The impact of organizational culture on job performance: a study of Saudi Arabian public sector work culture. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 16, 207. http://dx.doi.org/10.21511/ppm.2018.17
- Saint-Michel, S. E. (2018). Leader gender stereotypes and transformational leadership: Does leader sex make the difference? *Management*, 21, 944–966. Retrieved from http://www.strategie-aims.com
- Salim, H. (2015). The impact of leadership styles on job satisfaction and mediating role of perceived organizational politics. *Global Conference on Business & Social Science*, 172, 563-569. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016201501403
- Saravo, B., Netzel, J., & Kiesewetter, J. (2017). The need for strong clinical leaders –
 Transformational and transactional leadership as a framework for resident
 leadership training. *Plos ONE, 12*, 1-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.13710183019

Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Khoshnava Fomani, F., Shoghi, M., & Ali Cheraghi, M.

(2014). Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: the necessity to develop a specific guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics & History of Medicine, 7*, 1-6. Retrieved from http://www.jmehm.tums.ac.ir/index.php/jmehm

- Schaumberg, R. L., & Flynn, F. J. (2017). Clarifying the link between job satisfaction and absenteeism: The role of guilt proneness. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *102*, 982-992. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/apl0000208
- Schouteten, R. (2017). Predicting absenteeism: screening for work ability or burnout. Occupational Medicine, 67(1), 52–57 http://dx.doi.org/10.1093161
- Schauefeli, W. & Bakker A.R. (2004). Job demands, job resources and their relationship with burnout and engagement: a multi-sample study. *Journal of Organizational Behavior, 25,* 293-315. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002248
- Schauefeli, W. & Taris, T. (2014). A critical review of the job demands-resource model: implications for improving work and health. Retrieved from http://www.researchgate.net
- Selekler, H., Gokmen, G., Alvur, T., & Steiner, T. (2015). Productivity losses attributable to headache, and their attempted recovery, in a heavy-manufacturing workforce in Turkey: implications for employers and politicians. *Journal of Headache & Pain*, *16*(1), 1-8. http://dx.doi.org/10.11861019401505794
- Shanock, L. R., Eisenberger, R., Heggestad, E. D., Malone, G., Clark, L., Dunn, A. M., Kirkland, J., & Woznyj, H. (2019). Treating employees well: The value of organizational support theory in human resource management. *The Psychologist-Manager Journal*, 22, 168–191. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/mgr0000088

- Shapira-Lishchinsky, O., & Ishan, G. (2013). Teachers' acceptance of absenteeism: towards developing a specific scale. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 51, 594-617. http://dx.doi.org/10.11081220110115
- Shapira-Lishchinsky, O., & Raftar-Ozery, T. (2018). Leadership, absenteeism acceptance, and ethical climate as predictors of teachers' absence and citizenship behaviors. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 46, 491–510. http://dx.doi.org/10.11771741143216665841
- Silverman, D. (Ed.). (2016). Qualitative research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Slijepcevic, M., Bovan, A., & Radojevic, I. 2018. Internal communications as a factor of company's efficiency. *Marketing*, 49,124–43. http://dx.doi.org/10.5937/markt802124s
- Srour, F. J., Srour, I., & Lattouf, M. G. (2017). A survey of absenteeism on construction sites. *International Journal of Manpower*, 38, 533-547. http://dx.doi.org/10.11080820150135
- Stephan, U., Patterson, M., Kelly, C., & Mair, J. (2016). Organizations driving positive social change: A review and an integrative framework of change processes. *Journal of Management*, 42, 1250–1281. http://dx.doi.org /10.1177/0149206316633268
- Stoetzer, U., Aborg, C., Johansson, G., & Svartengren, M. (2014). Organization, relational justice and absenteeism. *Work*, 47, 521-529. http://dx.doi.org/10.3233131624
- Stromberg, C., Aboagye, E., Hagberg, J., Bergström, G., & Lohela-Karlsson, M. (2017).

Estimating the effect and economic impact of absenteeism, presenteeism, and work Environment-related problems on reductions in productivity from a managerial perspective. *Value in Health, 20*, 1058-1064. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016201705008

Strudsholm, T., Meadows, L. M., Vollman, A. R., Thurston, W. E., & Henderson, R. (2016). Using mixed methods to facilitate complex, multiphased health research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 15(1), 1-11. http://dx.doi.org/10.11771609406915624579

Suk Bong, C., Kihwan, K., & Seung-Wan, K. (2017). Effects of transformational and shared leadership styles on employees' perception of team effectiveness. *Social Behavior & Personality: An International Journal, 45*, 377-386. http://dx.doi.org/10.22245805

- Sun, F. K., Long, A., Tseng, Y. S., Huang, H. M., You, J. H., & Chiang, C. Y. (2016). Undergraduate student nurses' lived experiences of anxiety during their first clinical practicum: A phenomenological study. *Nurse education today*, *37*, 21-26. http://dx.doi.org/101016201511001
- Susca, P. T. (2019). The influence of organizational culture on OSH. *Professional Safety*, *64*, 24–26. Retrieved from http://www.asse.org/professional-safety/
- Tafvelin, S., Isaksson, K., & Westerberg, K. (2018). The first year of service: A longitudinal study of organizational antecedents of transformational leadership in the social service organizations. *British Journal of Social Work*, 48, 430–448. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093038

Tatebe, J. (2015). The ethics of difference: Ethical dilemmas of external researchers. Journal of Academic Ethics, 13, 229-237. http://dx.doi.org/10.10071080501592364

Tepayakul, R., & Rinthaisong, I. (2018). Job satisfaction and employee engagement among human resources staff of Thai private higher education institutions. *International Journal of Behavioral Science*, *13*, 68–81. Retrieved from http://www.swu.ac.th/en/content/bsri.asp

- Ticharwa, M., Cope, V., & Murray, M. (2019). Nurse absenteeism: An analysis of trends and perceptions of nurse unit managers. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 27(1), 109–116. http://dx.doi.org/10.111112654
- Tolonen, A., Rahkonen, O., & Lahti, J. (2017). Leisure-time physical activity and direct cost of short-term sickness absence among Finnish municipal employees.
 Archives of Environmental & Occupational Health, 72, 93-98.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.10801933824420161160863
- Tornroos, M., Jokela, M., & Hakulinen, C. (2019). The relationship between personality and job satisfaction across occupations. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 145, 82–88. http://dx.doi.org/10.10162019.03.027
- Tran, V. T., Porcher, R., Falissard, B., & Ravaud, P. (2016). Point of data saturation was assessed using resampling methods in a survey with open-ended questions. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, 80, 88-96. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016201607014

Tremblay, M., & Gibson, M. (2016). The role of humor in the relationship between

transactional leadership behavior, perceived supervisor support, and citizenship behavior. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies, 23*(1), 39-54. http://dx.doi.org/10.11771548051815613018

- Turner, D.W. (2010). Qualitative Interview Design: A practical guide for novice investigators. *The Qualitative Report*, 15, 754-760. Retrieved from http://www.nsuworks.nova.edu
- Tyssen, A. K., Wald, A., & Spieth, P. (2014). The challenge of transactional and transformational leadership in projects. *International Journal of Project Management, 32*, 365-375. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016201305010
- Uluturk, B., & Tayfun, R. (2019). The roles of transformational leadership,
 communication competence and communication satisfaction on employees' job
 satisfaction. *Journal of Communication Theory & Research / Iletisim Kuram Ve Arastirma Dergisi*, 49, 48–68. Retrieved from
 http://www.ilet.gazi.edu.tr/index.php?dergi
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterizing and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18. http://dx.doi.org/10.11861287401805947
- Vignoli, M., Guglielmi, D., Bonfiglioli, R., & Violante, F. (2016). How job demands affect absenteeism? The mediating role of work-family conflict and exhaustion. *International Archives of Occupational & Environmental Health, 89*, 23-31. http://dx.doi.org/10.10070042001510488

Vito, G. F., Higgins, G. E., & Denney, A. S. (2014). Transactional and transformational leadership. *Policing: An International Journal*, 37, 809-822. http://dx.doi.org/10.11080120140008

Wadsworth, L. L., & Facer, R. L. (2016). Work-family balance and alternative work schedules: Exploring the impact of 4-day work weeks on state employees. *Public Personnel Management*, 45, 382–404.

http://dx.doi.org/10.11770091026016678856

- Walden, J., Jung, E. H., & Westerman, C. Y. K. (2017). Employee communication, job engagement, and organizational commitment: A study of members of the Millennial Generation. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, 29, 73–89. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1062726X.2017.1329737
- Wang, T. K., & Brower, R. (2019). Job satisfaction among federal employees: The role of employee interaction with work environment. *Public Personnel Management*, 48(1), 3–26. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0091026018782999
- Warrick, D. D. (2018). The need for transformational leaders that understand organization development fundamentals. *OD Practitioner*, 50, 33–40. Retrieved from http://www.odnetwork.org/publications/practitioner/index.php
- Welch, N., Miller, P. B., & Engle, L. (2016). Continuity planning for workplace infectious diseases. *Journal of Business Continuity & Emergency Planning*, 9, 375-386. Retrieved from http://www.henrystewart.com
- White, B. A. A., Pearson, K., Bledsoe, C., & Hendricks, R. (2017). Transformational leadership: The nexus between faith and classroom leadership. *Christian Higher*

Education, 16, 276–284. http://dx.doi.org/10.10801536375920171288589

- White, D., & Hind, D. (2015). Projection of participant recruitment to primary care research: a qualitative study. *Trials*, 16(1), 1-6. http://dx.doi.org/10.118613063-01510029
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, 15(1), 45–55. Retrieved from http://www.usimr.org
- Wittmayer, J. M., Backhaus, J., Avelino, F., Pel, B., Strasser, T., Kunze, I., & Zuijderwijk, L. (2019). Narratives of change: How social innovation initiatives construct societal transformation. *Futures*, *112*. http://dx.doi.org /10.1016/j.futures.2019.06.005
- Witty, K., Branney, P., Bullen, K., White, A., Evans, J., & Eardley, I. (2014). Engaging men with penile cancer in qualitative research: reflections from an interviewbased study. *Nurse Researcher*, 21, 13-19. http://dx.doi.org/10.7748201401213131218
- Wong, S. I., & Berntzen, M. N. (2019). Transformational leadership and leader-member exchange in distributed teams: The roles of electronic dependence and team task interdependence. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 92, 381–392. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016201811032
- Woodside, A. G. (2015). Constructing business-to-business marketing models that overcome the limitations in variable-based and case-based research paradigms. *Journal of Business-to-Business Marketing*, *22*, 95-110.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080105171220151021589

Yang, H., & Yang, J. (2019). The effects of transformational leadership, competitive intensity and technological innovation on performance. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*, 31, 292–305.

http://dx.doi.org/10.10800953732520181498475

- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: *The Qualitative Report, 20*(2), 134-152. Retrieved from http://www.nsuworks.nova.edu/tgr/vol20/iss2/12
- Yin, R.K. (2016). *Qualitative Research from Start to Finish*. New York: New York: Guilford Press
- Yin, R.K. (2017). *Case Study Research: Design and Methods:* Thousand Oaks, California: Sage
- Yukl, G. (2012). Leader behavior and LMX: A constructive replication. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 27 pp.143-154.

http://dx.doi.org/10.110802683941211199545

- Yu, H. H., & Lee, D. (2020). Gender and public organization: A quasi-experimental examination of inclusion on experiencing and reporting wrongful behavior in the workplace. *Public Personnel Management*, 49(1), 3–28. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0091026019836196
- Yu, X., Wang, P., Zhai, X., Dai, H., & Yang, Q. (2015). The effect of work stress on jobburnout among teachers: The mediating role of self-efficacy. *Social Indicators Research*, 122, 701–708. http://dx.doi.org/10.10071120501407165

Zhou, Q., Chen, G., & Liu, W. (2019). Impact of perceived organizational culture on job involvement and subjective well-being: A moderated mediation model. *Social Behavior & Personality: An International Journal*, 47(1), 1–13. http://dx.doi.org/10.2224/sbp.7478

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

What you will do	What you will say
I will introduce the interview and set the	Script: Interview questions
stage	
Each participant will be given a hard copy	I will thank the participants for their time
of the informed consent letter for their	and agreeing to participate in my research
records.	project. I will introduce myself and
	explain that I am collecting data for my
	study.
I will turn on the audio recorder and note	I will share a little about my study and
the date, time and location	background of the problem.
Each participant will be given the required	Consent to participate- I will explain that
time to fully answer questions (including	participation is voluntary and that the
follow-up and probing questions).	participate can leave the study at any time.
I will ask probing questions whenever	Next Steps: After this interview I will take
necessary if participants do not mention	a few days to transcribe and interpret the
certain elements on specific questions.	data and I will meet you again for member
	checking procedures to assist with
	enhancing the reliability and validity of
	the data.